
 

763.479.0527                                                  1920 County Road 90                                          Fax: 763.479.0528 
                                                                       Independence, MN 55359 
                                                                    www.ci.independence.mn.us 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA          
MONDAY NOVEMBER 18, 2019 
MEETING TIME: 6:30 PM 
 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
3. Roll Call 

 
4. ****Consent Agenda**** 
All items listed under Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by Council and will be acted 
on by one motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items. If discussion is desired, 
that item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately. 
 

a. Approval of City Council Minutes from the October 15, 2019 Regular City Council 
Meeting. 

b. Approval of Accounts Payable; Checks Numbered 19196-19270. 
c. 3rd Quarter Financial Report – For Council Information. 
d. Orono Baseball Association – Temporary Gambling Permit. 
e. 2020 Contract for Accounting Services – Abdo Eick & Meyers. 
f. RESOLUTION 19-1118-01- Designating City Hall as the Polling Place for the 2020 

Elections. 
g. Notice to Initiate Expiration of Agricultural Preserve Status for the Properties 

Identified by PID No.s 15-118-24-32-0003 and 15-118-24-33-000. 
h. Approval by City Council to not waive the monetary limits on Tort Liability. 
i. RESOLUTION 19-1118-02 – Certifying Delinquent Sewer Service Charges. 

 
5. Set Agenda – Anyone Not on the Agenda can be Placed Under Open/Misc.  

 
6. Reports of Boards and Committees by Council and Staff. 
 
7. AT&T (Applicant) requests that the City consider the following action for the property 

located at 3310 County Line Road, Independence, MN (PID No. 07-118-24-33-0004): 
 

a. RESOLUTION NO. 19-1118-03 – considering a conditional use permit amendment 
to allow the colocation of new cellular antennas on the existing wireless tower located 
on the subject property and a variance to allow a second accessory structure on the 
property and the reduction of the requisite 40-foot rear yard setback.   
 



 

8. John Hilbelink (Applicant/Owner) requests that the City consider the following action for the 
properties located at 5062 Perkinsville Road, Independence, MN (PID No.s 24-118-24-13-
0005 and 24-118-24-13-0006): 
 

a. RESOLUTION NO. 19-1118-04 – Considering approval of a minor subdivision to 
allow a lot line rearrangement to move the existing line between the properties.  The 
rearrangement would create “equal” properties on Perkinsville Road. 
 

9. Concept plan and provide informal feedback relating to the proposed subdivision of the 
property located at 2236 South Lakeshore Drive.  The proposed subdivision would create 28 
single-family lots which includes the existing residence.   
  

10. A proposed text amendment to the City of Independence Ordinances as follows: 
  

a. ORDINANCE NO. 2019-03 (Summary Ordinance 2019-03) - Chapter 5, Section 
530.01, Subd. 3 Accessory Uses – Considering an amendment to the maximum height 
of an accessory structure.  The City will discuss increasing the permitted height of 
detached accessory structures. 

 
11. Discussion/Approval Relating to City Hall Upgrades – Architectural Services. 

 
12. Open/Misc. 
 
13. Adjourn. 



 

1 

City of Independence 

City Council Meeting Minutes 

6:30 p.m. October 15, 2019 

 

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 

INDEPENDENCE CITY COUNCIL  

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 15, 2019 –6:30 P.M. 

 

 

1.  CALL TO ORDER. 

 

Pursuant to due call and notice thereof, a regular meeting of the Independence City Council was called to 

order by Mayor Johnson at 6:30 p.m. 

 

3.  ROLL CALL  

 

PRESENT: Mayor Johnson, Councilors Spencer, Betts, McCoy and Grotting 

ABSENT: City Attorney Vose 

STAFF: City Administrator Kaltsas, Assistant to Administrator Horner, WHPS Chief Kroells 

VISITORS: Sarah Borchers 

 

4. ****Consent Agenda**** 

All items listed under Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by Council and will be acted on by one 

motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items. If discussion is desired, that item will be 

removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately. 

 

a. Approval of City Council Minutes from the October 1, 2019 Regular City Council Meeting. 

b. Approval of Accounts Payable; Checks Numbered 19161-19195 (Check 19132 was voided). 

c. 3rd Quarter Building Permit Report. 

 

Motion by Betts, second by McCoy to approve the Consent Agenda. Ayes: Johnson, Grotting, Betts, 

McCoy and Spencer.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Abstain. None.  MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 

 

Johnson noted Congressman Phillips expressed interest to tour before the next Highway 12 meeting. 

 

5. SET AGENDA – ANYONE NOT ON THE AGENDA CAN BE PLACED UNDER OPEN/MISC. 

 

6. REPORTS OF BOARDS AND COMMITTEES BY COUNCIL AND STAFF 

 

Spencer attended the following meetings: 

• Maple Plain Fire Department Steak Fry and Open House 

• Loretto Fire Department Spaghetti dinner and Open House 

 

Grotting attended the following meetings: 

• Several meetings about data services within the City 

 

McCoy attended the following meetings:  

 

Betts attended the following meetings: 

• West Hennepin Chamber of Commerce Meeting 

• Fire Commission Meeting 

 



 

2 

City of Independence 

City Council Meeting Minutes 

6:30 p.m. October 15, 2019 

 

Johnson attended the following meetings: 

• Senior Community Services Technology Conference 

• National League of Small Cities Conference Call 

• Hennepin County Healthy Communities Quarterly Meeting 

• Maple Plain Fire Department Steak Fry and Open House 

• Pastor Meg’s retirement celebration at First Presbyterian Church 

• West Hennepin Chamber of Commerce 

• Fire Commission Meeting 

• American Legion Fall Meeting 

• Northwest League of Municipalities Meeting 

• Orono Healthy Youth Meeting 

• Meeting with Staff of Metro Cities  

 

Horner attended the following meetings: 

• Two Meetings with Architects  

• Met with Bank of Maple Plain 

• Meeting with Staff of Metro Cities  

• Met with the Orono Softball League  

 

Kaltsas attended the following meetings: 

• Working on getting a meeting with Commissioner Margaret Kelliher regarding Highway 12 

 

7.  Annual Visit from Orono School Board Member Sarah Borcher. 

 

Borchers encouraged everyone to take a tour of the new Orono Activity Center. Borcher spoke about the 

technology levy. She said Minnesota does not have a designated amount for tech. The board has to ask voters 

for technology funds. Borchers said they are reaching out now to facilitate communication about the need for 

funding for K-12. It is about getting the right tools for students with everything from hardware to software. 

Technology for the future will be making sure the network is strong and reinforcing teacher training as well as 

enhancing cyber security. The increase equates to an additional $8.00/ month on a $400,000 valued home.  

 

Johnson stated that the levies vary considerably across districts. Grotting asked about access to the internet 

and Borchers said some money goes to a more robust system. Borchers said it is a million dollars for tax 

payers for this levy.  

 

Johnson thanked Borchers for attending and the update. 

 

8. West Hennepin Public Safety Director, Gary Kroells, September 2019 Monthly Report. 

 

 *for a complete report see the City Council packet* 

 

Kroells said there were 314 incidents reported in Independence for the month of September and 174 incidents 

in Maple Plain. Total incidents for both cities for the year to date are 5,092.  

 

Kroells stated the delineators are in and contractors are being lined up to install per MnDOT. Power 

companies are getting ready to install signs and will begin November 1st. McCoy asked how many cameras 

would be between Independence and Delano. Kroells stated the exact number is not yet known but he did note 

there would be flashing lights installed that will flash when roads are slippery. 



 

3 

City of Independence 

City Council Meeting Minutes 

6:30 p.m. October 15, 2019 

 

 

9. AT&T (Applicant) requests that the City consider the following action for the property located at 3310 

County Line Road, Independence, MN (PID No. 07-118-24-33-0004): 

 

a. RESOLUTION NO. 19-1015-01 – considering a conditional use permit amendment to allow the 

colocation of new cellular antennas on the existing wireless tower located on the subject property 

and a variance to allow a second accessory structure on the property and the reduction of the 

requisite 40-foot rear yard setback.   

 

Kaltsas stated AT&T has requested more time so this will be tabled until the next meeting per Council’s 

approval. 

 

Motion by Betts, second by McCoy to table RESOLUTION NO. 19-1015-01 – considering a conditional 

use permit amendment to allow the colocation of new cellular antennas on the existing wireless tower 

located on the subject property and a variance to allow a second accessory structure on the property 

and the reduction of the requisite 40-foot rear yard setback for the property located at 3310 County 

Line Road, Independence, MN (PID No. 07-118-24-33-0004). Ayes: Johnson, Grotting, Betts, McCoy 

and Spencer. Nays: None. Absent: None. MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 

 

10. Discussion/Approval Relating to City Hall Upgrades – Architectural Services  

 

Kaltsas stated the City has been holding off on making improvements to the City Hall/WHPS mechanical 

equipment and cosmetic needs (i.e. painting, carpet, etc.) for several years with the intent to undertake a larger 

and more comprehensive renovation/update project. The City should consider making improvements that 

include upgrades to the front entrance, carpet and flooring, interior and exterior painting, new HVAC 

equipment for WHPS, community room upgrades and storage and garage space upgrades. 

 

Council provided direction to staff at our most recent workshop to further investigate and identify costs 

associated with updating City Hall and WHPS. Staff reached out to several architectural firms that specialize 

in municipal facilities and met with two of the firms to discuss the potential project in more detail. Both firms 

provided the City with a professional services proposal to analyze the existing building and provide high level 

concept plans and associated costs for making the desired improvements to the facility. Staff reviewed the 

proposals and found that the costs associated with both proposals is approximately $14,000 taking into 

account estimated reimbursable expenses. The process for evaluating the facility and developing plans and 

cost estimates would take 6-8 weeks. 

 

Based on the proposals provided, staff would like to move forward with BKV Architects. The majority of the 

costs associated with the fees (approximately $10,000) would be taken from the remaining administration 

capital outlay budget for 2019. Staff will work to identify sources of funding for the remaining balance if 

billed in 2019 or would be able to accommodate the additional amount if it carried over to 2020. Staff 

believes that it would be beneficial for the City to begin this process in 2019 so that a 2020 project could 

potentially be realized. Both proposals are included in the packet for Council review. 

 

Staff is seeking Council direction and recommending approval to move forward with hiring BKV Architects 

to provide preliminary professional design services associated with potential updates to City Hall and WHPS 

offices. 

 

Johnson noted the recommended group was impressive and they like to have input from Staff and Council. 

 



 

4 

City of Independence 

City Council Meeting Minutes 

6:30 p.m. October 15, 2019 

 

Motion by Spencer, second by McCoy approve a motion to move forward with BKV Architectural 

Firm for exploratory discussions regarding upgrades to City Hall. Ayes: Johnson, Grotting, Betts, 

McCoy and Spencer. Nays: None. Absent: None. MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 

 

11. Open/Misc. 

 

12. Adjourn. 

 

Motion by Grotting, second by Betts to adjourn at 7:20 p.m. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

___________________ 

 

Trish Gronstal 

Recording Secretary 



 

City of Independence 
Independence, Minnesota 
 
 
As of September 30, 2019 

3rd Quarter Report 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

October 23, 2019 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

ACCOUNTANT’S COMPILATION REPORT 
 
 
 
Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Independence 
Independence, Minnesota 
 
Management is responsible for accompanying financial statements of the City of Independence, which comprise the 
budget to actual statement of revenues and expenditures for the General and enterprise funds as of September 30, 2019 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We have performed a 
compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated 
by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. We did not audit or review the financial statements nor 
were we required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by 
management. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on these 
financial statements. 
 
Management has elected to omit substantially all of the disclosures and the statement of cash flows required by 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. If the omitted disclosures and the statement of 
cash flows were included in the financial statements, they might influence the user’s conclusions about the City’s financial 
position, results of operations, and cash flows. Accordingly, the financial statements are not designed for those who are 
not informed about such matters. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
AEM FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS, LLC 

2



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

October 23, 2019 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Independence 
Independence, Minnesota 
 
Dear Honorable Mayor and City Council: 
 
We have reconciled all bank accounts through September 30, 2019 and reviewed activity in all funds. The following is a 
summary of our observations. All information presented is unaudited. 
 
Cash and Investments 
 
The City’s cash and investment balances are as follows:  
 

Increase/
09/30/2019 12/31/2018 (Decrease)

Checking 167,287$         273,194$         (105,908)$        
Investments (at Market Value) 1,411,108        1,891,626        (480,517)          

Total Cash and Investments 1,578,395$      2,164,820$      (586,425)$        

Increase/
09/30/2019 12/31/2018 (Decrease)

Checking 167,287$         273,194$         (105,908)$        
Money Market 1,217,224        1,697,742        (480,517)          
Negotiable CDs 193,884           193,884           -                       

Total Investments 1,578,395$      2,164,820$      (586,425)$        

Investment Type 

 
 
  

3



General Fund

YTD YTD Percent of YTD YTD Percent of
Receipts Budget Actual YTD Budget Disbursements Budget Actual YTD Budget

Taxes 1,992,402$  1,352,547$  67.9         %  Legislative 17,292$       14,489$       83.8         %  
Licenses and Permits 123,803       163,612       132.2        Election 3,188           -                  -              
Intergovernmental 12,000         25,840         215.3        City Clerk/Finance 333,094       334,369       100.4        
Charges For Services 30,863         17,036         55.2          Legal Services 30,287         21,795         72.0          
Fines and Forfeitures 35,805         32,006         89.4          Planning and Zoning 29,130         22,643         77.7          
Miscellaneous Revenue 8,250           52,342         634.4        General Government Building 31,578         25,979         82.3          

Public Safety 1,136,327    1,103,935    97.1          
2,203,123$  1,643,383$  74.6         %  Building Inspector 84,231         88,053         104.5        

Public Works 430,921       476,581       110.6        
Solid Waste 38,625         34,123         88.3          

Varies more than 15% than budget positively Recreation/Community Service 5,670           3,292           58.1          
Varies more than 15% than budget negatively Park Maintenance 9,393           12,454         132.6        
Within 15% of budget Insurance 1,920           -                  -              

Transfer Out 51,467         51,469         100.0        

2,203,123$  2,189,182$  99.4         %  

Key

 $100,000

 $300,000

 $500,000

 $700,000

 $900,000

 $1,100,000

 $1,300,000

 $1,500,000

January 1 January February March April May June July August September October November December

General Fund Cash Balances 2016 - 2019

2016 2017 2018 2019 50% reserve

4



 

Current short-term rates being offered by financial institutions are very low as evidenced by the table of U.S. Treasury 
rates below. The U.S. Treasury rates provide a benchmark perspective for rate of return.  
 

Date 1 mo 3 mo 6 mo 1 yr 2 yr 3 yr 5 yr 7 yr 10 yr

12/31/2010           0.07           0.12           0.19           0.29           0.61           1.02           2.01           2.71           3.30 
12/30/2011           0.01           0.02           0.06           0.12           0.25           0.36           0.83           1.35           1.89 
12/31/2012           0.02           0.05           0.11           0.16           0.25           0.36           0.72           1.18           1.78 
12/31/2013           0.01           0.07           0.10           0.13           0.38           0.78           1.75           2.45           3.04 
12/31/2014           0.03           0.04           0.12           0.25           0.67           1.10           1.65           1.97           2.17 
12/31/2015           0.14           0.16           0.49           0.65           1.06           1.31           1.76           2.09           2.27 
03/31/2016           0.18           0.21           0.39           0.59           0.73           0.87           1.21           1.54           1.78 
06/30/2016           0.20           0.26           0.36           0.45           0.58           0.71           1.01           1.29           1.49 
09/30/2016           0.20           0.29           0.45           0.59           0.77           0.88           1.14           1.42           1.60 
12/31/2016           0.44           0.51           0.62           0.85           1.20           1.47           1.93           2.25           2.45 
03/31/2017           0.74           0.76           0.91           1.03           1.27           1.50           1.93           2.22           2.40 
06/30/2017           0.84           1.03           1.14           1.24           1.38           1.55           1.89           2.14           2.31 
09/30/2017           0.96           1.06           1.20           1.31           1.47           1.62           1.92           2.16           2.33 
12/31/2017           1.28           1.39           1.53           1.76           1.89           1.98           2.20           2.33           2.40 
03/31/2018           1.63           1.73           1.93           2.09           2.27           2.39           2.56           2.68           2.74 
06/30/2018           1.77           1.93           2.11           2.33           2.52           2.63           2.73           2.81           2.85 
09/30/2018           2.12           2.19           2.36           2.59           2.81           2.88           2.94           3.01           3.05 
12/31/2018           2.44           2.45           2.56           2.63           2.48           2.46           2.51           2.59           2.69 
03/29/2019           2.43           2.40           2.44           2.40           2.27           2.21           2.23           2.31           2.41 
06/28/2019           2.18           2.12           2.09           1.92           1.75           1.71           1.76           1.87           2.00 
09/30/2019           1.91           1.88           1.83           1.75           1.63           1.56           1.55           1.62           1.68 

Treasury Yields

 
 

Budget Summary 
 
A more detailed analysis of funds is included as Attachment A. 
 
Cash Balance Summary  
 
A detailed view of department totals compared with budget is included as Attachment B.  
 
Investment Summary  
 
A detailed summary of current investments is included as Attachment C.  
 
Enterprise Fund Summary 
 
A detailed summary of enterprise fund financial results is included as Attachment D.  
 
Revenue and Expenditures  
 
A detail of revenues and expenditures is included  
 

*   *   *   *   * 
 

This information is unaudited and is intended solely for the information and use of management and City Council and is 
not intended and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
If you have any questions or wish to discuss any of the items contained in this letter or the attachments, please feel free to 
contact us at your convenience. We wish to thank you for the continued opportunity to be of service and for the courtesy 
and cooperation extended to us by your staff.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
AEM FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS, LLC 

5



ATTACHMENT ACity of Independence, Minnesota
Statement of Revenue and Expenditures -

Budget and Actual - General Fund (Unaudited)
For Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019

Annual Budget Actual Variance -
Budget Thru Thru Favorable

12/31/2019 9/30/2019 9/30/2019 (Unfavorable)
Revenues

Taxes 2,656,535$    1,992,402$    1,352,547$    (639,855)$      * 67.9          %
Licenses and permits 165,070         123,803         163,612         39,809           (1) 132.2        
Intergovernmental 16,000           12,000           25,840           13,840           (2) 215.3        
Charges for services 41,150           30,863           17,036           (13,827)          (3) 55.2          
Fines and forfeitures 47,740           35,805           32,006           (3,799)            89.4          
Miscellaneous revenue 11,000           8,250             52,342           44,092           (4) 634.4        

Total Revenues 2,937,495      2,203,123      1,643,383      (559,740)        74.6          

Expenditures
Legislative 23,056           17,292           14,489           2,803             83.8          
Election 4,250             3,188             -                    3,188             -            
City Clerk/finance 444,125         333,094         334,369         (1,275)            100.4        
Legal services 40,382           30,287           21,795           8,492             72.0          
Planning and zoning 38,840           29,130           22,643           6,487             77.7          
General government building 42,104           31,578           25,979           5,599             82.3          
Public safety 1,515,102      1,136,327      1,103,935      32,392           97.1          
Building inspector 112,308         84,231           88,053           (3,822)            104.5        
Public works 574,561         430,921         476,581         (45,660)          110.6        
Solid waste 51,500           38,625           34,123           4,502             88.3          
Recreation/community service 7,560             5,670             3,292             2,378             58.1          
Park maintenance 12,524           9,393             12,454           (3,061)            132.6        
Insurance 2,560             1,920             -                    1,920             -            

Total Expenditures 2,868,872      2,151,656      2,137,713      13,943           99.4          

Transfers in -                    -                    -                    -                    N/A
Transfers out (68,623)          (51,467)          (51,469)          (2)                  100.0        

Excess Revenues
(Expenditures) -$                  -$                  (442,861)$      (545,799)$      

* Taxes are paid 40% in June, 30% in July and the remainder are paid in December. 

Explanation of Items Percentage Received/Expended Less than 80% or Greater than 120% and $ Variance Greater than $10,000.
(1) Increase in building permits during 3rd quarter.
(2) Variance due to $17,000 in Street Aid paid in July.
(3) Vinland has not yet paid for 2nd or 3rd quarter police services.
(4) Received $45,000 fee for issuance of conduit debt for PHS Founders Ridge, Inc.

Percent

Item

Received or
Expended
Based on

Budget Thru
9/30/2019

6



ATTACHMENT B

YTD Change
Balance Balance Balance From

9/30/2018 12/31/2018 9/30/2019 12/31/2018

100 General 976,157$       1,153,674$    617,289$       (1) (536,385)$      
200 Water Resource Department 65,284           88,828           56,499           (2) (32,329)         
309 2006A GO Capital Improvement Bonds 111,553         64,661           122,669         (3) 58,008           
311 Drake Drive Road Improvement 11,511           11,550           11,623           73                 
312 2007 Equipment Certificate 37,111           37,237           37,473           236               
314 2015A G.O. Bond 93,057           183,119         101,748         (4) (81,371)         
401 Building Capital 104,005         104,358         105,018         660               
402 Road Capital Improvement 12,852           12,895           12,977           82                 
403 Equipment Capital Improvement 89,008           149,310         201,842         (5) 52,532           
404 Administrative Capital 39,943           89,029           89,310           281               
405 Park 60,341           60,677           70,262           9,585             
414 2015 Street Improvement 36,315           36,438           36,668           230               
430 City Projects Agency Fund -                    -                    49,779           (6) 49,779           
602 Sewer 93,449           121,814         65,238           (7) (56,576)         
806 City Projects 53,076           51,230           -                    (6) (51,230)         

   Total 1,783,662$    2,164,820$    1,578,395$    (586,425)$      

Item Explanation of Items Percentage Received/Expended Less than 80% or Greater than 120% and $ Variance Greater than $25,000.
(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

(5)
(6)
(7)

General Park
Water resource dept Sewer
Debt service Capital projects

City Projects

Balance increased more than 10% over prior year
Balance decreased more than 10% over prior year
Balance within 10% of prior year

Key

GO Tax Abatement Bond 2015A principal and interest payments of $154,306, which were partially offset by the 1st half of the tax settlment 
received in June. 

City of Independence, Minnesota
Unaudited Cash Balances by Fund

September 30, 2018, December 31, 2018 and September 30, 2019

Fund

The total owed to the Pioneer Watershed for Operating Assessment and CIP has been paid for the year. This cost is usually offset by total tax 
settlements for the year.
2019 Taxes received in July totaling $62,265.

Fund

Transfer received from the General Fund to help fund capital purchases. 
Reclass of CUP Escrows from fund 806 to Fund 430
See the Sewer Statement of Revenue and Expenditures for explanation.

The decrease is an expected result from the excess of expenditures over revenues which is the typical cash flow pattern of the city.  Additional 
detail can be obtained in the statement of Revenues and Expenditures.

 $-

 $200,000

 $400,000

 $600,000

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,200,000

General Water
Resource Dept

Debt Service City Projects
Agency Fund

Park Sewer Capital Projects City Projects

Cash Balance by Fund Compared to Prior Year

9/30/2018 9/30/2019

7



City of Independence, Minnesota
Schedule of Investments

For the Month Ending September 30, 2019

ATTACHMENT C

Unadjusted
Market Value Deposits - Expenditures - Market Value Market Value Unrealized

Description Type 1/1/2019 Purchases Sales Transfers Interest 9/30/2019 9/30/2019 gain / loss

Checking Checking 394,744.78$          558,376.76$      (244,850.98)$      146.98$       247,940.53$                  247,940.53$        -$                     
Money Market Money Market 1,697,741.80         17,035.00          (500,000.00)        937.47         1,217,224.31                 1,217,224.31       -                       
Brokered CD Brokered CD 193,883.74            193,883.74                    193,883.74          -                       

2,286,370.32         575,411.76        (744,850.98)        -                   1,084.45      1,659,048.58                 1,659,048.58       -                       

l Cash and Investments 2,286,370.32$       575,411.76$      (744,850.98)$      -$                 1,084.45$    1,659,048.58$               1,659,048.58$     -$                     

Deposits in Transit-GF 8,163.44$            
Outstanding Checks-GF (88,817.52)           
Timing Difference
Reconciled Balance 1,578,394.50$     

8



City of Independence, Minnesota
Investments

For the Month Ending September 30, 2019

ATTACHMENT C

Unadjusted
Market Value Market Value Variance

Maturity 9/30/2019 9/30/2019 9/30/2019
Current 1,465,164.84$    1,465,164.84$    -$  
< 1 year 193,883.74         193,883.74         -
1-2 years - - -
2-3 years - - -
3-4 years - - -
5+ years - - -

1,659,048.58$    1,659,048.58$    -$  
-$  

 Weighted average Rate of return 0.94% 9/30/2019
Average Maturity (years) 0.00 9/30/2019

Market Value 
Investment Type 9/30/2019
Money Market 1,217,224.31$    
Brokered CD 193,883.74         
Savings -
Government Securities -
Municipal Securities -
Checking 247,940.53         

1,659,048.58$    

Operating Account
O/S Deposits 8,163.44$           
O/S Checks (88,817.52)         

Reconciled Balance 1,578,394.50$    

 $-
 $200,000
 $400,000
 $600,000
 $800,000

 $1,000,000
 $1,200,000
 $1,400,000
 $1,600,000

Current < 1 year 1-2
years

2-3
years

3-4
years

 5+
years

Maturities

Market Value  Market Value

73%

12%

15%
Money Market

Brokered CD

Checking

9



ATTACHMENT DCity of Independence, Minnesota
Statement of Revenue and Expenses

Sewer Fund (Unaudited)
For Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019

Annual Actual Actual Variance -
Budget Thru Thru Favorable

12/31/2019 9/30/2018 9/30/2019 (Unfavorable)
Revenues

Charges for services 225,000$       137,535$       141,290$       3,755$           102.73         %
Property taxes 15,957           6,148             7,979             1,831             N/A
Special assessments -                    46,480           30,615           (15,865)         (1) N/A
Connection fees 13,200           -                    3,860             3,860             N/A
Interest income -                    314               189               (125)              60.19           

Total Revenues 254,157         190,477         183,933         (6,544)           96.56           

Expenses
Personal services 110,913         68,197           73,223           (5,026)           107.37         
Supplies 1,855             1,465             956               509               65.26           
Repairs and maintenance 21,860           15,048           8,549             6,499             56.81           
Other services and charges 49,680           35,878           42,380           (6,502)           118.12         
Insurance 3,574             2,828             2,726             102               96.39           
Capital outlay 58,470           11,769           2,900             8,869             N/A
Debt service 80,000           80,000           80,000           -                    100.00         
Utilities 22,000           14,147           15,720           (1,573)           111.12         
Depreciation 135,064         98,348           101,298         (2,950)           103.00         
Interest expense 15,674           18,201           15,674           2,527             86.12           

Total Expenses 499,090         345,881         343,426         2,455             99.29           

Transfers in -                    -                    -                    -                    N/A
Transfers out -                    -                    -                    -                    N/A

Excess Revenues
(Expenses) (244,933)       (155,404)       (159,493)       (4,089)           102.63         

Convert to Cash 
Depreciation 135,064         98,348           101,298         2,950             103.00         
Bond principal -                    -                    -                    -                    -                  

Net Estimated Cash Effect (109,869)$      (57,056)$       (58,195)$       (1,139)$         102.00         %

Explanation of items percentage received/expended less than 80% or greater than 120% and $ variance greater than $10,000.
(1)

9/30/2019

Item

Percent
Received or
Expended
Based on

Actual Thru

Two early prepayments of special assessments were made in 2nd Quarter 2018.

 $(50,000)

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

Sewer Sales Comparison 2016 - 2019

2016 2017 2018 2019

10



*Revenue Guideline©

10/17/19 4:32 PM
Page 1

Current Period: September 2019

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE

2019 September

YTD Balance
% of YTD

 Budget

2019

YTD Budget YTD Amt MTD Amt

2019

 GENERAL FUND

Active $2,548,448.00 $1,352,547.26 $1,195,900.74 53.07%$0.00R 100-31010 AD VALOREM TAXES
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-31020 DELINQUENT TAXES
Active $108,087.00 $0.00 $108,087.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-31040 FISCAL DISPARITIES
Active $13,240.00 $17,780.00 -$4,540.00 134.29%$0.00R 100-32100 BUSINESS LICENSES
Active $146,260.00 $109,868.87 $36,391.13 75.12%$14,027.78R 100-32210 BUILDING PERMIT
Active $0.00 $30,703.40 -$30,703.40 0.00%$3,821.37R 100-32211 PLAN REVIEW FEES
Active $570.00 $420.00 $150.00 73.68%$0.00R 100-32240 ANIMAL LICENSES
Active $5,000.00 $4,840.00 $160.00 96.80%$350.00R 100-32250 MISC. LICENSES & PER
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-33400 STATE GRANT
Active $8,000.00 $534.50 $7,465.50 6.68%$0.00R 100-33401 LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
Active $0.00 $17,035.00 -$17,035.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-33610 CTY. GRANTS & AID (S
Active $8,000.00 $8,270.00 -$270.00 103.38%$0.00R 100-33620 COUNTY GRANTS & AI
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-33630 C.D.B.G./MISC. CREDIT
Active $12,000.00 $5,575.25 $6,424.75 46.46%$500.00R 100-34103 ZONING/SUBDIVISION 
Active $0.00 $4,500.00 -$4,500.00 0.00%$1,000.00R 100-34104 WATER/RESOURCE FE
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-34105 SALE-MAPS,PUBLICATI
Active $150.00 $175.00 -$25.00 116.67%$50.00R 100-34107 ASSESSMENT SEARCH
Active $28,000.00 $6,639.00 $21,361.00 23.71%$0.00R 100-34108 ADMINISTRATIVE CHA
Active $600.00 $88.20 $511.80 14.70%$44.10R 100-34305 PUBLIC WORKS REIMB
Active $400.00 $58.46 $341.54 14.62%$0.00R 100-34306 BUILDING INSPECTION
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-34307 PLANNING/ZONING REI
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-34308 LEGAL FEE/REIMB. DE
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-34309 ENG. FEE/REIMB. DEV
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-34310 MINNEHAHA WATERSH
Active $47,740.00 $32,006.01 $15,733.99 67.04%$2,895.20R 100-35000 COURT FINES/DOG IMP
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-36100 SPECIAL ASSESS/INT (
Active $5,000.00 $4,052.36 $947.64 81.05%$323.23R 100-36210 INTEREST EARNINGS
Active $3,500.00 $43.02 $3,456.98 1.23%$0.00R 100-36220 INSURANCE PREMIUM 
Active $500.00 $47,396.47 -$46,896.47 9479.29%$45,000.00R 100-36230 MISC REVENUE/REFUN
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-36231 DONATIONS
Active $2,000.00 $350.00 $1,650.00 17.50%$0.00R 100-36240 COMMUNITY CENTER 
Active $0.00 $500.00 -$500.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-36242 PARK RENTAL FEE
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-36250 SALES TAX  (COLLECT
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-39100 SALE OF EQUIPMENT
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-39101 SALE OF LAND
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-39102 COMPENSATION FOR L
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-39200 TRANSFERS IN (GENE
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 100-39900 PROCEEDS FROM LEA

Total  GENERAL FUND $2,937,495.00 $1,643,382.80 $1,294,112.20 55.95%$68,011.68
 WATER RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT

Active $61,350.00 $32,759.57 $28,590.43 53.40%$0.00R 200-31010 AD VALOREM TAXES
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 200-31020 DELINQUENT TAXES
Active $3,160.00 $0.00 $3,160.00 0.00%$0.00R 200-31040 FISCAL DISPARITIES
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 200-34103 ZONING/SUBDIVISION 
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 200-34108 ADMINISTRATIVE CHA
Active $0.00 $403.19 -$403.19 0.00%$29.55R 200-36210 INTEREST EARNINGS
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 200-36230 MISC REVENUE/REFUN
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 200-36261 EVENT REVENUES
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 200-39200 TRANSFERS IN (GENE
Total  WATER RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT $64,510.00 $33,162.76 $31,347.24 51.41%$29.55

 DEBT SERV PUB SAF BLD 01

Active $124,530.00 $62,265.00 $62,265.00 50.00%$0.00R 309-31010 AD VALOREM TAXES
Active $0.00 $517.95 -$517.95 0.00%$64.15R 309-36210 INTEREST EARNINGS

Total  DEBT SERV PUB SAF BLD 01 $124,530.00 $62,782.95 $61,747.05 50.42%$64.1511



*Revenue Guideline©

10/17/19 4:32 PM
Page 2

Current Period: September 2019

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE

2019 September

YTD Balance
% of YTD

 Budget

2019

YTD Budget YTD Amt MTD Amt

2019

 DRAKE DR. ROAD IMPROVEMENT

Active $0.00 $73.00 -$73.00 0.00%$6.08R 311-36210 INTEREST EARNINGS
Total  DRAKE DR. ROAD IMPROVEMENT $0.00 $73.00 -$73.00 0.00%$6.08

 GEO CERT. 2007 A.

Active $0.00 $235.34 -$235.34 0.00%$19.60R 312-36210 INTEREST EARNINGS
Total  GEO CERT. 2007 A. $0.00 $235.34 -$235.34 0.00%$19.60

 2015A- GO BOND

Active $176,308.00 $88,154.07 $88,153.93 50.00%$0.00R 314-31010 AD VALOREM TAXES
Active $0.00 $312.03 -$312.03 0.00%$53.21R 314-36210 INTEREST EARNINGS

Total  2015A- GO BOND $176,308.00 $88,466.10 $87,841.90 50.18%$53.21
 BUILDINGS CAPITAL IMPRMT FUND

Active $0.00 $659.52 -$659.52 0.00%$54.92R 401-36210 INTEREST EARNINGS
Total  BUILDINGS CAPITAL IMPRMT FUND $0.00 $659.52 -$659.52 0.00%$54.92

 ROAD CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND

Active $0.00 $81.51 -$81.51 0.00%$6.79R 402-36210 INTEREST EARNINGS
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 402-39203 TRANSFER IN

Total  ROAD CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND $0.00 $81.51 -$81.51 0.00%$6.79
 EQUIPMENT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS

Active $0.00 $1,064.20 -$1,064.20 0.00%$105.56R 403-36210 INTEREST EARNINGS
Active $0.00 $51,467.24 -$51,467.24 0.00%$5,718.58R 403-39200 TRANSFERS IN (GENE

Total  EQUIPMENT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS $0.00 $52,531.44 -$52,531.44 0.00%$5,824.14
 ADMIN. CAPITAL FUND

Active $0.00 $562.49 -$562.49 0.00%$46.71R 404-36210 INTEREST EARNINGS
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 404-39200 TRANSFERS IN (GENE

Total  ADMIN. CAPITAL FUND $0.00 $562.49 -$562.49 0.00%$46.71
 PARK FUND

Active $0.00 $7,250.00 -$7,250.00 0.00%$0.00R 405-34780 PARK DEDICATION FEE
Active $0.00 $411.69 -$411.69 0.00%$36.75R 405-36210 INTEREST EARNINGS
Active $0.00 $1,743.29 -$1,743.29 0.00%$309.23R 405-36230 MISC REVENUE/REFUN

Total  PARK FUND $0.00 $9,404.98 -$9,404.98 0.00%$345.98
 2015 STREET IMPROVEMENT

Active $0.00 $230.28 -$230.28 0.00%$19.18R 414-36210 INTEREST EARNINGS
Total  2015 STREET IMPROVEMENT $0.00 $230.28 -$230.28 0.00%$19.18

 CITY PROJECTS AGENCY FUND

Active $0.00 $15,500.00 -$15,500.00 0.00%$750.00R 430-34115 REFUNDABLE DEPOSIT
Active $0.00 $12,200.32 -$12,200.32 0.00%$750.00R 430-34116 NON REFUNDABLE DE
Active $0.00 $20,612.82 -$20,612.82 0.00%$0.00R 430-39201 TRANSFERS IN
Active $0.00 $40,339.41 -$40,339.41 0.00%$0.00R 430-39999 Prior Period Adjustment

Total  CITY PROJECTS AGENCY FUND $0.00 $88,652.55 -$88,652.55 0.00%$1,500.00
 SEWER FUND

Active $15,957.00 $7,978.61 $7,978.39 50.00%$0.00R 602-31010 AD VALOREM TAXES
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 602-31040 FISCAL DISPARITIES
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 602-34108 ADMINISTRATIVE CHA
Active $13,200.00 $3,860.00 $9,340.00 29.24%$0.00R 602-34401 SEWER CONNECTION 
Active $0.00 $9,164.00 -$9,164.00 0.00%$1,738.00R 602-34408 USER AVAIL. CHG.
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 602-34410 SEWER COMPLIANCE 
Active $0.00 $30,615.04 -$30,615.04 0.00%$0.00R 602-36100 SPECIAL ASSESS/INT (
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 602-36101 PRINCIPLE
Active $0.00 $189.47 -$189.47 0.00%$34.12R 602-36210 INTEREST EARNINGS
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 602-37200 TRANSFERS IN (GENE
Active $208,000.00 $123,140.91 $84,859.09 59.20%$25,978.89R 602-37210 COLLECTION & GRAVIT
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 602-37220 RESIDENTIAL CLUSTE
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 602-37230 ON-SITE SYSTEMS
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 602-37240 CLUSTER MOUND 12



*Revenue Guideline©

10/17/19 4:32 PM
Page 3

Current Period: September 2019

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE

2019 September

YTD Balance
% of YTD

 Budget

2019

YTD Budget YTD Amt MTD Amt

2019

Active $17,000.00 $8,215.48 $8,784.52 48.33%$2,794.16R 602-37250 COMMERCIAL
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 602-37260 SALE OF FIXED ASSET
Active $0.00 $769.19 -$769.19 0.00%$2.00R 602-37270 DEL UTILITIES - CITY P
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 602-37600 STREET TO HOUSE CO
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 602-39203 TRANSFER IN
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 602-39999 Prior Period Adjustment

Total  SEWER FUND $254,157.00 $183,932.70 $70,224.30 72.37%$30,547.17
 CITY PROJECTS FUND

Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 806-36230 MISC REVENUE/REFUN
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 806-39200 TRANSFERS IN (GENE
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00R 806-39203 TRANSFER IN

Total  CITY PROJECTS FUND $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00

Report Total $3,557,000.00 $2,164,158.42 $1,392,841.58 60.84%$106,529.16

13



*Expenditure Guideline©

10/11/19 12:56 PM
Page 1

Current Period: September 2019

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE

2019 September Enc

Current YTD Balance
% of YTD

 Budget

2019
YTD Budget YTD Amt MTD Amt

2019

 GENERAL FUND

Active $3,000.00 $2,250.00 $0.00 $750.00 75.00%$750.00E 100-41000-100 MAYOR'S SALAR
Active $7,200.00 $5,400.00 $0.00 $1,800.00 75.00%$1,800.00E 100-41000-103 COUNCIL SALAR
Active $780.00 $585.23 $0.00 $194.77 75.03%$195.08E 100-41000-122 FICA(6.2) MEDIC
Active $9,000.00 $4,403.27 $0.00 $4,596.73 48.93%$0.00E 100-41000-331 CONFERENCE &
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41000-360 WORKERS COM
Active $1,196.00 $1,296.98 $0.00 -$100.98 108.44%$0.00E 100-41000-361 INSURANCE
Active $230.00 $225.00 $0.00 $5.00 97.83%$0.00E 100-41000-405 MISCELLANEOU
Active $1,650.00 $328.65 $0.00 $1,321.35 19.92%$80.65E 100-41000-433 DUES & SUBSC
Active $1,500.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,500.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41410-102 WAGES (PART-T
Active $1,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,000.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41410-210 OPERATING SU
Active $750.00 $0.00 $0.00 $750.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41410-350 PRINTING & PUB
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41410-351 BALLOT PRINTIN
Active $1,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,000.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41410-405 MISCELLANEOU
Active $49,825.00 $33,439.87 $0.00 $16,385.13 67.11%$3,991.29E 100-41500-101 WAGES (FULL-TI
Active $35,855.00 $25,967.76 $0.00 $9,887.24 72.42%$2,951.50E 100-41500-102 WAGES (PART-T
Active $6,426.00 $4,756.72 $0.00 $1,669.28 74.02%$525.57E 100-41500-121 PERA
Active $6,554.00 $4,832.31 $0.00 $1,721.69 73.73%$533.94E 100-41500-122 FICA(6.2) MEDIC
Active $24,398.00 $21,764.90 $0.00 $2,633.10 89.21%$4,549.48E 100-41500-131 CITY PAID BENE
Active $4,500.00 $4,623.81 $0.00 -$123.81 102.75%$816.21E 100-41500-200 OFFICE SUPPLI
Active $10,578.00 $10,270.00 $0.00 $308.00 97.09%$0.00E 100-41500-301 AUDITING FEES
Active $93,536.00 $53,504.25 $0.00 $40,031.75 57.20%($17,827.25)E 100-41500-302 ADMINISTRATIO
Active $68,180.00 $52,027.61 $0.00 $16,152.39 76.31%$5,731.66E 100-41500-305 CPA FEES
Active $15,000.00 $11,500.50 $0.00 $3,499.50 76.67%$17,914.25E 100-41500-310 OTHER CONSUL
Active $0.00 $2,777.96 $0.00 -$2,777.96 0.00%$0.00E 100-41500-313 UNCOLLECTED 
Active $60,000.00 $65,000.00 $0.00 -$5,000.00 108.33%$65,000.00E 100-41500-315 ASSESSOR'S FE
Active $3,976.00 $3,761.43 $0.00 $214.57 94.60%$328.28E 100-41500-321 COMMUNICATIO
Active $1,650.00 $904.30 $0.00 $745.70 54.81%$0.00E 100-41500-322 POSTAGE
Active $1,600.00 $527.22 $0.00 $1,072.78 32.95%$87.42E 100-41500-331 CONFERENCE &
Active $13,000.00 $9,678.70 $0.00 $3,321.30 74.45%$474.34E 100-41500-350 PRINTING & PUB
Active $8,576.00 $7,263.20 $0.00 $1,312.80 84.69%$0.00E 100-41500-360 WORKERS COM
Active $1,404.00 $1,341.81 $0.00 $62.19 95.57%$0.00E 100-41500-361 INSURANCE
Active $4,240.00 $0.00 $0.00 $4,240.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41500-404 MAINT.&REPAIR 
Active $1,500.00 $1,291.23 $0.00 $208.77 86.08%$4.95E 100-41500-405 MISCELLANEOU
Active $9,279.00 $4,516.33 $0.00 $4,762.67 48.67%$2,313.33E 100-41500-433 DUES & SUBSC
Active $20,000.00 $11,333.16 $0.00 $8,666.84 56.67%$177.00E 100-41500-560 CAPITAL OUTLA
Active $0.00 $182.78 $0.00 -$182.78 0.00%$0.00E 100-41500-570 CAPITAL OUTLA
Active $4,048.00 $3,103.63 $0.00 $944.37 76.67%$456.87E 100-41500-602 LEASE/PURCHA
Active $16,882.00 $7,993.21 $0.00 $8,888.79 47.35%$1,886.00E 100-41600-304 CIVIL, LEGAL (K
Active $22,000.00 $11,754.67 $0.00 $10,245.33 53.43%$2,233.15E 100-41600-306 PROSECUTION (
Active $1,500.00 $2,047.58 $0.00 -$547.58 136.51%$0.00E 100-41600-312 CODIFICATION 
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41600-405 MISCELLANEOU
Active $25,074.00 $17,827.25 $0.00 $7,246.75 71.10%$0.00E 100-41900-307 PLANNER CONT
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41900-311 WATER RESOU
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41900-360 WORKERS COM
Active $5,246.00 $4,511.23 $0.00 $734.77 85.99%$0.00E 100-41900-361 INSURANCE
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41900-405 MISCELLANEOU
Active $1,090.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,090.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41920-311 WATER RESOU
Active $7,430.00 $304.50 $0.00 $7,125.50 4.10%$0.00E 100-41920-320 WATER RESOU
Active $13,534.00 $5,922.78 $0.00 $7,611.22 43.76%$408.55E 100-41940-321 COMMUNICATIO
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41940-360 WORKERS COM
Active $2,456.00 $3,377.16 $0.00 -$921.16 137.51%$0.00E 100-41940-361 INSURANCE
Active $12,000.00 $4,659.51 $0.00 $7,340.49 38.83%($1,580.86)E 100-41940-380 ELECTRIC & GA
Active $1,270.00 $864.32 $0.00 $405.68 68.06%$0.00E 100-41940-384 GARBAGE PICK-
Active $12,154.00 $6,310.00 $0.00 $5,844.00 51.92%$388.36E 100-41940-401 MAINT.&REPAIR 14



*Expenditure Guideline©

10/11/19 12:56 PM
Page 2

Current Period: September 2019

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE

2019 September Enc

Current YTD Balance
% of YTD

 Budget

2019
YTD Budget YTD Amt MTD Amt

2019

Active $150.00 $0.00 $0.00 $150.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-41940-402 MUSEUM
Active $540.00 $311.80 $0.00 $228.20 57.74%$0.00E 100-41940-403 GROUND MAINT
Active $0.00 $4,218.63 $0.00 -$4,218.63 0.00%$231.21E 100-41940-405 MISCELLANEOU
Active $0.00 $315.00 $0.00 -$315.00 0.00%$195.00E 100-41940-510 C.O.(LAND & BL
Active $1,190.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,190.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-42000-405 MISCELLANEOU
Active $1,119,531.00 $824,105.77 $0.00 $295,425.23 73.61%$88,393.18E 100-42000-440 POLICE CONTR
Active $1,650.00 $2,793.00 $0.00 -$1,143.00 169.27%$0.00E 100-42000-442 PRISONER BOO
Active $392,731.00 $277,036.61 $0.00 $115,694.39 70.54%$19,871.67E 100-42000-450 FIRE PROTECTI
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-42000-461 BUILDING CODE
Active $75,009.00 $58,790.44 $0.00 $16,218.56 78.38%$6,642.32E 100-42400-101 WAGES (FULL-TI
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-42400-104 WAGES - TEMP 
Active $5,626.00 $4,699.48 $0.00 $926.52 83.53%$498.18E 100-42400-121 PERA
Active $5,738.00 $4,763.90 $0.00 $974.10 83.02%$504.85E 100-42400-122 FICA(6.2) MEDIC
Active $15,092.00 $11,451.00 $0.00 $3,641.00 75.87%$957.93E 100-42400-131 CITY PAID BENE
Active $700.00 $209.47 $0.00 $490.53 29.92%$175.99E 100-42400-200 OFFICE SUPPLI
Active $800.00 $474.28 $0.00 $325.72 59.29%$72.36E 100-42400-212 VEHICLE OPER.
Active $500.00 $279.35 $0.00 $220.65 55.87%$0.00E 100-42400-310 OTHER CONSUL
Active $1,957.00 $1,261.37 $0.00 $695.63 64.45%$184.14E 100-42400-321 COMMUNICATIO
Active $1,400.00 $1,612.73 $0.00 -$212.73 115.20%$49.42E 100-42400-331 CONFERENCE &
Active $3,430.00 $2,905.28 $0.00 $524.72 84.70%$0.00E 100-42400-360 WORKERS COM
Active $1,326.00 $1,450.75 $0.00 -$124.75 109.41%$0.00E 100-42400-361 INSURANCE
Active $300.00 $155.00 $0.00 $145.00 51.67%$0.00E 100-42400-433 DUES & SUBSC
Active $430.00 $0.00 $0.00 $430.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-42400-570 CAPITAL OUTLA
Active $168,575.00 $149,736.93 $0.00 $18,838.07 88.83%$14,154.18E 100-43100-101 WAGES (FULL-TI
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-43100-102 WAGES (PART-T
Active $12,643.00 $9,808.13 $0.00 $2,834.87 77.58%$1,061.84E 100-43100-121 PERA
Active $12,896.00 $10,064.42 $0.00 $2,831.58 78.04%$1,080.21E 100-43100-122 FICA(6.2) MEDIC
Active $34,950.00 $25,599.66 $0.00 $9,350.34 73.25%$2,347.94E 100-43100-131 CITY PAID BENE
Active $660.00 $32.98 $0.00 $627.02 5.00%$0.00E 100-43100-210 OPERATING SU
Active $23,180.00 $18,475.57 $0.00 $4,704.43 79.70%$1,817.49E 100-43100-212 VEHICLE OPER.
Active $4,000.00 $4,045.07 $0.00 -$45.07 101.13%$0.00E 100-43100-217 SIGNS
Active $2,800.00 $2,465.08 $0.00 $334.92 88.04%$235.80E 100-43100-218 UNIFORMS
Active $5,000.00 $7,542.89 $0.00 -$2,542.89 150.86%$0.00E 100-43100-219 CULVERTS
Active $23,000.00 $22,815.33 $0.00 $184.67 99.20%$1,906.93E 100-43100-220 MAINT.&REPAIR 
Active $4,780.00 $3,898.84 $0.00 $881.16 81.57%$436.29E 100-43100-223 MAINT.& REPAIR
Active $70,019.00 $62,252.15 $0.00 $7,766.85 88.91%$0.00E 100-43100-224 ROAD MAINT.MA
Active $43,713.00 $38,540.12 $0.00 $5,172.88 88.17%$0.00E 100-43100-226 BLACKTOP MAIN
Active $1,030.00 $375.00 $0.00 $655.00 36.41%$0.00E 100-43100-227 EQUIPMENT RE
Active $330.00 $0.00 $0.00 $330.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-43100-240 SMALL TOOLS &
Active $4,500.00 $5,988.00 $0.00 -$1,488.00 133.07%$4,393.00E 100-43100-303 ENGINEERING
Active $5,603.00 $4,442.00 $0.00 $1,161.00 79.28%$660.84E 100-43100-321 COMMUNICATIO
Active $1,060.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,060.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-43100-331 CONFERENCE &
Active $3,500.00 $1,157.50 $0.00 $2,342.50 33.07%$0.00E 100-43100-350 PRINTING & PUB
Active $8,576.00 $7,263.20 $0.00 $1,312.80 84.69%$0.00E 100-43100-360 WORKERS COM
Active $7,267.00 $9,441.83 $0.00 -$2,174.83 129.93%$0.00E 100-43100-361 INSURANCE
Active $10,135.00 $6,163.28 $0.00 $3,971.72 60.81%$314.30E 100-43100-380 ELECTRIC & GA
Active $2,915.00 $2,524.60 $0.00 $390.40 86.61%$104.46E 100-43100-381 STREET LIGHTI
Active $480.00 $0.00 $0.00 $480.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-43100-384 GARBAGE PICK-
Active $260.00 $55.50 $0.00 $204.50 21.35%$0.00E 100-43100-405 MISCELLANEOU
Active $28,140.00 $4,971.07 $0.00 $23,168.93 17.67%$0.00E 100-43100-407 SNOW REMOVA
Active $71,029.00 $61,039.84 $0.00 $9,989.16 85.94%$0.00E 100-43100-408 DUST CONTROL
Active $15,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $15,000.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-43100-412 BRUSH & TREE 
Active $520.00 $0.00 $0.00 $520.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-43100-413 SALES/FUEL TA
Active $560.00 $0.00 $0.00 $560.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-43100-415 SAC CHARGES
Active $3,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $3,000.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-43100-418 WEED CONTRO 15



*Expenditure Guideline©

10/11/19 12:56 PM
Page 3

Current Period: September 2019

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE

2019 September Enc

Current YTD Balance
% of YTD

 Budget

2019
YTD Budget YTD Amt MTD Amt

2019

Active $1,910.00 $963.20 $0.00 $946.80 50.43%$114.80E 100-43100-420 GOPHER STATE 
Active $1,910.00 $1,800.00 $0.00 $110.00 94.24%$0.00E 100-43100-430 SAFETY PROGR
Active $620.00 $0.00 $0.00 $620.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-43100-433 DUES & SUBSC
Active $0.00 $15,118.32 $0.00 -$15,118.32 0.00%$0.00E 100-43100-570 CAPITAL OUTLA
Active $68,623.00 $51,467.24 $0.00 $17,155.76 75.00%$5,718.58E 100-43100-720 TRANSFERS OU
Active $51,500.00 $33,907.86 $0.00 $17,592.14 65.84%$4,244.22E 100-43200-383 RECYCLING EXP
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-43200-405 MISCELLANEOU
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-43200-410 EQUIPMENT RE
Active $0.00 $215.03 $0.00 -$215.03 0.00%$0.00E 100-43200-411 CLEAN-UP DAY
Active $6,900.00 $3,292.00 $0.00 $3,608.00 47.71%$0.00E 100-45100-120 COMMUNITY EV
Active $660.00 $0.00 $0.00 $660.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-45200-409 YOUTH GROUPS
Active $1,090.00 $99.79 $0.00 $990.21 9.16%$99.79E 100-45300-210 OPERATING SU
Active $6,201.00 $8,822.00 $0.00 -$2,621.00 142.27%$1,782.00E 100-45300-220 MAINT.&REPAIR 
Active $560.00 $0.00 $0.00 $560.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-45300-230 EQUIPMENT PU
Active $560.00 $0.00 $0.00 $560.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-45300-310 OTHER CONSUL
Active $3,223.00 $3,532.70 $0.00 -$309.70 109.61%$0.00E 100-45300-361 INSURANCE
Active $660.00 $0.00 $0.00 $660.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-45300-380 ELECTRIC & GA
Active $230.00 $0.00 $0.00 $230.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-45300-405 MISCELLANEOU
Active $560.00 $0.00 $0.00 $560.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-49240-375 CLAIM DEDUCTI
Active $2,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-49240-620 AGENCY FEES
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 100-49300-720 TRANSFERS OU

Total  GENERAL FUND $2,937,495.00 $2,189,181.81 $0.00 $748,313.19 74.53%$252,438.69
 WATER RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT

Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 200-41920-303 ENGINEERING
Active $49,500.00 $49,500.20 $0.00 -$0.20 100.00%$0.00E 200-41920-309 PIONEER-SARA
Active $1,090.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,090.00 0.00%$0.00E 200-41920-310 OTHER CONSUL
Active $2,180.00 $12,430.59 $0.00 -$10,250.59 570.21%$5,502.80E 200-41920-320 WATER RESOU
Active $810.00 $0.00 $0.00 $810.00 0.00%$0.00E 200-41920-350 PRINTING & PUB
Active $0.00 $530.00 $0.00 -$530.00 0.00%$0.00E 200-41920-433 DUES & SUBSC
Active $10,930.00 $0.00 $0.00 $10,930.00 0.00%$0.00E 200-41920-570 CAPITAL OUTLA
Total  WATER RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT $64,510.00 $62,460.79 $0.00 $2,049.21 96.82%$5,502.80

 DEBT SERV PUB SAF BLD 01

Active $110,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $110,000.00 0.00%$0.00E 309-47000-601 BOND PRINCIPA
Active $8,600.00 $4,300.00 $0.00 $4,300.00 50.00%$0.00E 309-47000-611 INTEREST EXPE
Active $0.00 $475.00 $0.00 -$475.00 0.00%$0.00E 309-47000-620 AGENCY FEES

Total  DEBT SERV PUB SAF BLD 01 $118,600.00 $4,775.00 $0.00 $113,825.00 4.03%$0.00
 2015A- GO BOND

Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 314-43121-620 AGENCY FEES
Active $145,000.00 $145,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 100.00%$0.00E 314-47000-601 BOND PRINCIPA
Active $24,363.00 $24,362.50 $0.00 $0.50 100.00%$0.00E 314-47000-611 INTEREST EXPE
Active $0.00 $475.00 $0.00 -$475.00 0.00%$0.00E 314-47000-620 AGENCY FEES

Total  2015A- GO BOND $169,363.00 $169,837.50 $0.00 -$474.50 100.28%$0.00
 BUILDINGS CAPITAL IMPRMT FUND

Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 401-41940-103 COUNCIL SALAR
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 401-41940-530 CAPITAL OUTLA
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 401-41940-580 CAPITAL OUTLA
Total  BUILDINGS CAPITAL IMPRMT FUND $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00

 ROAD CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND

Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 402-49450-303 ENGINEERING
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 402-49450-304 CIVIL, LEGAL (K
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 402-49450-350 PRINTING & PUB
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 402-49450-530 CAPITAL OUTLA
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 402-49450-620 AGENCY FEES

Total  ROAD CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00
 EQUIPMENT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 16



*Expenditure Guideline©

10/11/19 12:56 PM
Page 4

Current Period: September 2019

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE

2019 September Enc

Current YTD Balance
% of YTD

 Budget

2019
YTD Budget YTD Amt MTD Amt

2019

Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 403-43100-590 CAPITAL OUTLA
Total  EQUIPMENT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00

 ADMIN. CAPITAL FUND

Active $0.00 $281.30 $0.00 -$281.30 0.00%$281.30E 404-43121-303 ENGINEERING
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 404-43121-304 CIVIL, LEGAL (K
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 404-43121-310 OTHER CONSUL
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 404-43121-530 CAPITAL OUTLA
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 404-43121-720 TRANSFERS OU

Total  ADMIN. CAPITAL FUND $0.00 $281.30 $0.00 -$281.30 0.00%$281.30
 PARK FUND

Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 405-45100-720 TRANSFERS OU
Total  PARK FUND $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00

 CITY PROJECTS AGENCY FUND

Active $0.00 $4,317.33 $0.00 -$4,317.33 0.00%$0.00E 430-41900-303 ENGINEERING
Active $0.00 $2,926.60 $0.00 -$2,926.60 0.00%$289.50E 430-41900-304 CIVIL, LEGAL (K
Active $0.00 $11,844.00 $0.00 -$11,844.00 0.00%$0.00E 430-41900-307 PLANNER CONT
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 430-41900-310 OTHER CONSUL
Active $0.00 $765.44 $0.00 -$765.44 0.00%$0.00E 430-41900-311 WATER RESOU
Active $0.00 $12,846.72 $0.00 -$12,846.72 0.00%$0.00E 430-41900-810 REFUND & REIM
Active $0.00 $6,173.58 $0.00 -$6,173.58 0.00%$0.00E 430-41900-999 PRIOR PERIOD 

Total  CITY PROJECTS AGENCY FUND $0.00 $38,873.67 $0.00 -$38,873.67 0.00%$289.50
 SEWER FUND

Active $80,022.00 $50,841.38 $0.00 $29,180.62 63.53%$4,125.24E 602-49450-101 WAGES (FULL-TI
Active $6,476.00 $4,112.60 $0.00 $2,363.40 63.51%$309.38E 602-49450-121 PERA
Active $6,606.00 $4,194.88 $0.00 $2,411.12 63.50%$315.58E 602-49450-122 FICA(6.2) MEDIC
Active $17,809.00 $14,074.52 $0.00 $3,734.48 79.03%$2,380.06E 602-49450-131 CITY PAID BENE
Active $1,060.00 $160.76 $0.00 $899.24 15.17%$0.00E 602-49450-210 OPERATING SU
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 602-49450-301 AUDITING FEES
Active $0.00 $10,295.00 $0.00 -$10,295.00 0.00%$7,411.00E 602-49450-303 ENGINEERING
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 602-49450-304 CIVIL, LEGAL (K
Active $0.00 $404.00 $0.00 -$404.00 0.00%($4,890.00)E 602-49450-310 OTHER CONSUL
Active $900.00 $0.00 $0.00 $900.00 0.00%$0.00E 602-49450-331 CONFERENCE &
Active $858.00 $726.32 $0.00 $131.68 84.65%$0.00E 602-49450-360 WORKERS COM
Active $2,156.00 $1,999.54 $0.00 $156.46 92.74%$0.00E 602-49450-361 INSURANCE
Active $560.00 $0.00 $0.00 $560.00 0.00%$0.00E 602-49450-375 CLAIM DEDUCTI
Active $22,000.00 $15,720.47 $0.00 $6,279.53 71.46%$157.16E 602-49450-380 ELECTRIC & GA
Active $21,860.00 $8,549.32 $0.00 $13,310.68 39.11%$0.00E 602-49450-401 MAINT.&REPAIR 
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 602-49450-404 MAINT.&REPAIR 
Active $1,650.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,650.00 0.00%$0.00E 602-49450-405 MISCELLANEOU
Active $42,000.00 $31,105.62 $0.00 $10,894.38 74.06%$3,456.18E 602-49450-414 METRO COUNCI
Active $4,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $4,000.00 0.00%$0.00E 602-49450-415 SAC CHARGES
Active $135,064.00 $101,297.99 $0.00 $33,766.01 75.00%$11,255.33E 602-49450-416 DEPRECIATION
Active $100.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100.00 0.00%$0.00E 602-49450-417 LICENSES & PE
Active $795.00 $795.00 $0.00 $0.00 100.00%$795.00E 602-49450-433 DUES & SUBSC
Active $560.00 $0.00 $0.00 $560.00 0.00%$0.00E 602-49450-560 CAPITAL OUTLA
Active $57,910.00 $2,900.00 $0.00 $55,010.00 5.01%$0.00E 602-49450-570 CAPITAL OUTLA
Active $80,000.00 $80,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 100.00%$0.00E 602-49450-601 BOND PRINCIPA
Active $15,674.00 $15,673.75 $0.00 $0.25 100.00%$0.00E 602-49450-611 INTEREST EXPE
Active $1,030.00 $575.00 $0.00 $455.00 55.83%$0.00E 602-49450-620 AGENCY FEES
Active $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%$0.00E 602-49450-999 PRIOR PERIOD 

Total  SEWER FUND $499,090.00 $343,426.15 $0.00 $155,663.85 68.81%$25,314.93
 CITY PROJECTS FUND

Active $0.00 $20,612.82 $0.00 -$20,612.82 0.00%$0.00E 806-49300-720 TRANSFERS OU
Total  CITY PROJECTS FUND $0.00 $20,612.82 $0.00 -$20,612.82 0.00%$0.00

Report Total $3,789,058.00 $2,829,449.04 $0.00 $959,608.96 74.67%$283,827.22
17



 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Accounting Services Contract Renewal 
 

To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 

Meeting Date: November 18, 2019 

 
 
Discussion: 
The City’s contract with Abdo Eick & Meyers to provide accounting services will end this year.  
The services provided to the City continue to fully satisfy all financial and accounting needs.  
Services include daily accounting, billing, utility billing, accounts payable, budgeting and long 
range financial planning.  Staff believes that the daily accounting, budgeting, planning, support 
and solutions provided by AEM provide the City with a high level of service for a fair value.  
The proposed contract renewal is for three years and would run through 2022.  
  
 
Requested Action: 
It is recommended that the City Council approve the renewal contract with AEM as presented for 
three years.   
 
  
  
ATTACHMENTS:  Accounting Services Proposal  

  
 
 
 
   



5201 Eden Avenue Suite 250 Edina, MN 55436
P: (952) 835.9090 • F: (952) 835.3261

100 Warren Street Suite 600 Mankato, MN 56001
P: (507) 625.2727 • F: (507) 389.9139

www.aemcpas.com

Accounting 
Services
Proposal

City of
Independence

November 8, 2019



September 5, 2019

Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator
City of Independence
1920 County Rd 90
Independence, Minnesota  55359

Dear Mark,

Thank you for the opportunity to submit this proposal to the City of Independence, Minnesota (the City) for 
accounting services. Based on our past experience with cities of comparable size and complexity, we 
believe our structured contract with defined outcomes offered through AEM Financial Solutions, LLC 
(AEMFS) would provide the City with excellent accounting services.

We believe our solution will continue to result in the City receiving high level information, continual 
improvement of processes and allow the City to keep overall costs stable. Our proposal is based on the 
needs of the City laid out in the request for proposal and the experiences we have had working with other 
cities. The proposal outlines the scope of services we believe will address the needs of the City.

The term of this contract shall be from January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2022.   

An AEMFS representative will be in the City offices as necessary to perform responsibilities as noted on 
the Scope of Services page. Services will also be performed remotely as necessary.

Investment by the City for services is indicated in the financial page.

AEMFS would like to thank the City for the opportunity. We look forward to exceeding your expectations 
and continuing our long-term, mutually beneficial relationship.

Sincerely,

AEM Financial Solutions, LLC
an Abdo, Eick & Meyers, LLP Company

Steven R. McDonald, CPA Jean D. McGann, CPA
Managing Partner President, AEM Financial Solutions, LLC

Partner, Abdo, Eick & Meyers, LLP

2



Table of 
Contents

Government Experience 4
Outsourced Finance Director 5
Technology 6
Your Team 7
Team Bios 8
Value & 

Scope of Service 11
What Our Clients Say 14
Why AEM? 15
Appendix A

(Agreement for Financial Services) 16
Appendix B

(Agreement for the Provision of 

Professional Services) 21

3



Government Experience

You can have confidence in our 10 years of 
consulting services, over 55 years of quality 
accounting services and partnership in the 
government space. Since 1963, we’ve served cities 
just like yours. With an unwavering commitment to 
streamlining processes, training staff, and finding 
technology-based solutions, we proudly offer 
excellence in city consulting and auditing. 

Out of our 160-strong, talented staff, over 40 team 
members are 100% focused on government 
clients, including services for over 100 cities and 
other governmental entities. By serving cities 
across Minnesota, we have become experts in the 
nuances of how to best support your city. 

Our expertise affords you a consulting experience 
that is painless. We do this by communicating up 
front, coming better prepared, and being available 
throughout the year to support you.

Our Process
Our methods are centered around incorporating 
technology to deliver unparalleled solutions for 
government organizations. In addition to our 
consulting experience, our firm expertly performs 
outsourcing for governments giving us a wealth of 
experience in a consulting role. We don’t believe in 
a one-size-fits-all mentality. So together, we’ll focus 
on the needs that are relevant to your city and 
provide the right services to meet them with a 
customized methodology based on your needs. 
We’re focused on developing creative, customized 
solutions to help your city mitigate costs and boost 
efficiency.

Our Focus
Through continuous training and growth 
opportunities, we’ve established an environment 
with a focus on serving city governments. We 
spend more than 100 hours training and 
onboarding to ensure success for our clients. 

We truly hope that you allow us to be your partner. 
Together, we’ll go beyond the numbers to best 
support your city. 

Our Financial Management and 
Consulting Services Include:
• Arbitrage compliance
• Budget process development
• Capital improvement planning
• Cash flow analysis
• Cost containment processes
• Debt management plans
• ERP system consulting
• Finance Director services
• Financial management plans
• Financial reporting and analysis
• Fleet: Operations and replacement rate

analysis
• Interim accounting and financial services
• Internal control evaluation
• Long-term strategic planning
• Payroll processing
• Policy development
• Process flows and efficiencies
• Project management
• Quarterly and monthly reporting to

management
• Reconciliations
• Software implementation
• Utility/fee analysis
• Year-end audit preparation and financial

statement preparation

Our Qualifications
 GFOA and MnGFOA Association members

 Government operations training

 MSRB Municipal Advisor Qualified
Representatives (Series 50)

 Consulting services for over 100 cities

 We’ve assisted many municipalities in preparing
for the GFOA’s Certificate of Achievement for
Excellence awards in financial reporting

4



Outsourced Finance Director

Building relationships to become a valuable extension of your organization is what our Financial Solutions 
team will be ardently focused on when we work with you. When you employ our team, you gain a fresh 
perspective on a broad range of topics — you’ll have one point of contact but a whole team of people 
bringing you value.  With that said, we’ve had the opportunity to over 100 clients in the Midwest. Among 
the support we provide, Outsourced  Finance Director Services are a primary focus of our team. We offer 
this service for a broad range of cities with populations ranging from 800-25,000 in size.

Acting as outsourced finance directors and controllers requires a broad ranges of skills and experience. 
We bring a unique set of skills and experience as former government auditors, finance directors and 
controllers.. Through this lens, we implement processes and procedures to improve your organization’s 
daily operations. Our experience translates to insights that streamline the audit and budget process and 
internal controls, consequently reducing audit findings and improving efficiencies. Ultimately, this will save 
your community time and money. 

Process
When you select our team, our process is made simple — for you and for your employees.  First, we meet 
with your city administration to understand the challenges you face. We then analyze your financial 
statements, review budgets, and connect with your auditors to understand your financial position from their 
perspective. This give us a holistic view to formulate a plan and propose how we can best support you. 

Once our proposal is accepted, we’ll work with key stakeholders to understand cash flow, investments, 
and begin fulfilling proposal initiatives. Together we’ll identify priorities and begin implementation.

Qualifications
Our people make the difference- we have five members on our team who have passed the Series 50 
exam. These registered municipal advisors will manage your bonds, investments, and strategic planning 
initiatives. Out of 16 members in our Financial Solutions group, 60% of their work is focused on 
outsourced Finance Director services. 

The majority of our team members have worked in government organizations and public accounting 
bringing you a fresh perspective backed by relevant experience. We’re confident that AEM has the right 
expertise, team support, and recommendations to help your city grow. We look forward to supporting you 
and your team. 

5



Technology

AEM Technology
We believe technology should enhance our service offerings, making our work less intrusive, our time with 
you more productive and keep everyone’s data more secure. Our use of technology in providing financial 
accounting services enables us to streamline our work.. It also helps us to automate certain functions of 
accounting services so we are free to spend more time analyzing our results and working directly with you.   

AEM takes the security of our data and our clients data very seriously. A number of systems are in place 
to ensure the safety of your organization’s data with us. We operate in a completely remote hosted 
environment. This not only allows us to work from any computer, anywhere, any time, but also provides 
large scale, cutting edge technology and security for your data. Your data is housed in a secure data 
warehouse, not on laptops or local servers. 

It also means:

 All firm staff use dual authentication for every login to our remote environment

 Our data is saved on redundant servers so if one server fails, another server immediately takes over

 Our data is backed up continually

 All email and embedded links are scanned for viruses prior to landing in our inbox

Our remote host vendor works exclusively with public accounting firms. Their client base includes 
approximately 300 firms. They maintain a Service Organization Control 2 (SOC 2) report covering their 
organizational controls over security, processing integrity, etc. This report is available if you’d like to 
review it.

6



Your Team

In assembling our team to serve the City of Independence, we have assigned experienced individuals who 
know and understand your unique financial accounting needs. Our proposed delivery team has substantial 
experience working with cities similar to the City of Independence. Our team members and their respective 
experience are briefly profiled below. Full biographies for the team are located on the following pages.

Member Title Years of 
Experience

Steve McDonald Managing Partner 29

Jean McGann President and Partner 20

Andrea Worcester Client Services Senior 
Accountant 4

7



Team Bios

Team Member Background & Expertise

Steven McDonald, CPA

Managing Partner

steven.mcdonald@aemCPAs.com

Direct Line (952) 715.3002

Mr. McDonald joined the Firm in 1991 after graduating from Minot State 
University with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Accounting.  He currently 
serves as Managing Partner and during his tenure the firm has grown to a 
top 20 Minnesota accounting firm and a top 200 firm in the United States.  
Steve’s vision of continuous improvement and responsiveness to client 
needs has resulted leading the firm through several strategic mergers and 
acquisitions, new service line and industry segment development, and 
annual double digit growth.

Affiliations
• Young Presidents Organization

• Edina Community Foundation - Treasurer 

• Minnesota Youth Hockey Association - Volunteer

Education
• Bachelor of Science in Accounting, Minot State University

• Continuing professional education as required by AICPA

Professional Memberships
• American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)

• Minnesota Society of Certified Public Accountants

• Minnesota Government Finance Officers Association

Qualifications
• Advising clients on strategies that ensure sustainability and profitability

• Structuring merger and acquisition transactions

• Identify new business opportunities and structures that maximize growth

• Develop process improvements that lead to greater communication and 
efficiencies

• Regional and national speaker on topics relating to strategic planning, 
business development and internal controls

8



Team Bios

Team Member Background & Expertise

Jean McGann, CPA

Partner   |  Abdo, Eick & Meyers LLP

President   |  AEM Financial Solutions, 
LLC

Registered Municipal Advisor

jean.mcgann@aemfs.com

Direct Line (952) 715.3059

Jean joined the Firm in 2013.  She is licensed to practice as a CPA       in 
Minnesota.  Jean leads the Financial Solutions group providing financial 
management services, day-to-day accounting and customized solutions for    
local governments, businesses, nonprofit agencies and professional service 
firms. 

Affiliations
• Mentor for the Business Program at the Minnesota Center for Advanced 

Professional Studies (MNCAPS)

• Finance and audit committee member for Project for Pride in Living

Education
• Bachelor of Arts, Buena Vista University, Storm Lake, Iowa

• Continuing professional education as required by AICPA and      
Government Accountability Office

Professional Memberships
• American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)

• Minnesota Society of Certified Public Accountants (MNCPA)

• Minnesota Government Finance Officers Association

• Government Finance Officers Association of the United States                  
and Canada

Qualifications
• 20 years of experience in finance and auditing

• Over 8 years of experience in operations management

• Highly skilled in strategic planning and financial forecasting

• Experience in identifying and implementing cost containment processes, 
efficiencies and streamlining processes

• Policy development, internal control evaluation and project management 
experience

• MSRB Municipal Advisor Qualified Representative (Series 50)

9



Team Bios

Team Member Background & Expertise

Andrea Worcester, CPA

Client Services Senior Accountant

andrea.worcester@aemfs.com

Andrea Worcester joined the firm in 2019 as a Client Services Senior 
Accountant after serving as an Accountant for the City of New Brighton. She 
specializes in Utility Billing, Cash Receipting, Accounts Payable, Account 
Receivable, and Financial Reporting. 

Education
• Bachelor of Science in Accounting & Finance, Metropolitan State 

University

 Minor in Economics

• Continuing professional education

Professional Memberships
• Minnesota Government Financial Officers Association

Qualifications
• 4 years of experience working with local government in finance in an 

accountant role as a Utility Billing Clerk and Accountant

• Previous experience with JD Edwards

10



Value

We at AEM help cities achieve their financial goals. 

Fees are based on the assumption and limitations outlined in the scope of work that follows below. Below 
are the fees for our services. 

Initial invoice will be sent within 10 days of the execution of this agreement. Monthly installment fees will 
be invoiced throughout the remainder of this contract. 

We do not believe in charging for phone calls or emails during the year. When our communications 
identify additional service needs we will provide you with an expected fee range. 

Service Period Monthly Investment Annual Investment

January 1, 2020 – December 31, 2020 $ 5,300 $  63,600

January 1, 2021 – December 31, 2021 5,435 65,220

January 1, 2022 – December 31, 2022 5,570 66,840

11



S C O P E  O F  S E R V I C E S

AEMFS Contract Task Client Responsibility Frequency

Cash and Investment Monitoring

Reconcile cash and investments Review and approve Monthly

Review Monthly to ensure timely 
and accurately balance Monthly

Verify bank has proper amount of 
collateral pledged to City's account

Request monthly collateral 
statement from the bank Monthly

Review cash flow to ensure proper 
amounts are available for operations Monthly

Accounts Payable

Prepare batch A/P for City Council approval Administrator to review and approve Monthly

Prepare recap for City Council approval at 
council meetings Monthly

Review coding of invoices done by 
department heads Monthly

Issue vendor checks Monthly

Review monthly budget to actual report for 
coding errors Review and provide input Monthly

Annual Reporting

Complete Financial Reporting Form to the 
Office of the State Auditor June

Ensure Tax Increment Finance District 
Reports to the Office of the State Auditor 
are completed

Provide prior year tax increment 
Financing District Reports August

Property Tax Levy Report to the Minnesota 
Department of Revenue December

PT Form 280 to the Minnesota Department 
of Revenue (if required) September

12



S C O P E  O F  S E R V I C E S  ( C o n t i n u e d )

AEMFS Contract Task Client Responsibility Frequency

Annual Budget Preparation

Preliminary meeting with City management 
on budget objectives and strategy April

Prepare a City management’s 
recommended property tax levy along with 
a general outline of the City budgeted fund 
including any potential budget funding gaps. 
This will include the all funds summary and 
preparation of all budget documents.

May – August

Assist in presenting preliminary budget to 
Council prior to the deadline of September 
30

August

Assist with the certification of the final of the 
tax levy to the County and Minnesota 
Department of Revenue

December

Utility Billing

Manage rate changes in billing system Annual

Process utility billing Quarterly

Miscellaneous Tasks

Provide oversight in recording/accounting 
for transaction Weekly

Attend Council meeting for quarterly reports 
and budget discussions As needed

Update Council, Administrator and Staff of 
new accounting standards On-going

Provide assistance in reporting and closing 
out grant programs Monthly

Respond to surveys and information 
requests as they are received from outside 
sources such as the League of MN Cities 
and Government Finance Officers 
Association

On-going

Monitor compliance for assigned activities On-going

Prepare Sales Tax reports On-going

13



What Our Clients Say

Client References
We have long-term relationships with many cities in Minnesota. Our clients listed below serve as a sample 
of references of those we serve as their Finance Director. Additional references are available upon 
request.

City of New Hope

Kirk McDonald 763.531.5112

Engagement partner – Jean McGann

City of Crystal

Anne Norris | 763.531.1140

Engagement partner – Jean McGann

City of Oak Grove

Loren Wickham | 763.404.7075

Engagement partner – Jean McGann

City of Wyoming

Robb Linwood | 651.462.0575

Engagement partner – Jean McGann

14



Why AEM?

We Listen
You will know you’re in the 
right hands well before 
delivery, but be assured 
that we will get you a great 
value for the investment of 
your time.

We Engage
Active engagement with DFK 
International and domestic 
industry associations allows 
us to provide maximum 
value to your organization.

We Deliver
Combining our internal 
expertise and technological 
resources with what we’ve 
learned about you allows 
us to deliver a solution that 
exceeds your expectations.

Abdo, Eick & Meyers, LLP, established in 1963, 
has a professional staff of more than 150 in its 
Edina and Mankato offices. The two offices serve 
clients of all sizes and industries. Our services 
include audits, reviews and compilations, monthly 
accounting, tax planning and preparation, 
management advisory services and HR 
Outsourcing, to name a few. In addition, Abdo, Eick 
& Meyers, LLP is recognized as one of the Top 150 
firms in the United States and the 13th largest firm 
in Minnesota.

We're here because our clients need solutions to 
their challenges--not a commodity product. 
Through our dedication to teamwork, development 
and relationships, we will help our clients thrive. 
The investments into our People + Process make a 
difference for you, our valued client. We focus on 
the challenges and needs that are relevant to your 
business or government agency. This allows us to 
be thoughtful in our approach in providing you with 
the best solutions, and leave you assured in the 
value of our deliverable.

The Firm is a member of the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants Division of Firms and 
has received an unmodified opinion on its Peer 
Review. Our Peer Review, which included 
nonprofit, was completed in 2017 and resulted in a 
pass rating.

The Firm has not had any federal or state desk 
reviews or field reviews of its audits in the last 
three years. We have had no disciplinary action 
taken or pending against the Firm during the past 
three years with state regulatory bodies or 
professional organizations. 

We maintain library facilities which include current 
professional literature and specific information for 
the industries we serve. The Firm library is also 
reviewed as part of the external quality review 
program. The Firm has in-house training programs 
specific to our nonprofit clients. We also perform 
auditing and accounting updates for our clients that 
are organized by our staff. These practices ensure 
the quality of our staff over the term of 
engagement. 

15



Appendix A

16



Agreement for Financial Services

THIS AGREEMENT, is made and entered into on November 8, 2019 by and between the City of 
Independence, Minnesota (hereinafter referred to as the “City”), and AEM Financial Solutions LLC 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Contractor”). 

Articles of Agreement & Recitals 

WHEREAS, the City is authorized and empowered to secure from time to time certain professional 
services through contracts with qualified consultants; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor understands and agrees that: 

1. The Contractor will act as an Independent Contractor in the performance of all duties under this 
Agreement. Accordingly, the Contractor shall be responsible for payment of all taxes, including 
federal, state and local taxes and professional/business license fees arising out of the Contractor’s 
activities; 

2. The Contractor shall have no authority to bind the City for the performance of any services or to 
obligate the City. The Contractor is not an agent, servant, or employee of the City and shall not make 
any such representations or hold himself/herself out as such; 

3. The Contractor shall be the exclusive outsourced accounting service provider for the City during the 
term of this Agreement; 

4. The Contractor shall perform all professional services in a competent and professional manner, acting 
in the best interests of the City at all times. 

5. The Contractor shall not accrue any continuing contract rights for the services performed under this 
contract. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained herein, it is agreed 
as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
INCORPORATION OF RECITALS 

The recitals and agreement set forth above are hereby incorporated into this Agreement. 

ARTICLE II 
LIABILITY INSURANCE 

Section 1 Liability Insurance: The Contractor shall obtain professional liability insurance, at their expense 
with liability insurance coverage minimums in the amount of $2,000,000, which Contractor must secure 
and maintain during the term of this Agreement. Contractor will provide City with proof of liability insurance 
coverage under this Agreement in writing upon request by the City.

17



AGREEMENT FOR FINANCIAL SERVICES - CONTINUED 

ARTICLE III 

DURATION OF THE AGREEMENT 

Section 1 Duration: This Agreement shall commence upon date of execution by all parties and will remain 
in effect until December 31, 2022 unless earlier terminated as provided in Sections 2 and 3. 

Section 2 City’s Termination Rights: City may terminate this Agreement upon sixty (60) days written notice 
in the event the City determines in its sole discretion that it is not in the City’s best interest to continue 
using Contractor’s services. The City may terminate on ten (10) days written notice of the Contractor fails 
to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

Section 3 Contractor’s Termination Rights: Contractor may terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days 
written notice to City in the event City does not pay Contractor compensation as required under Article 5, 
Section 9 within fifteen (15) days after invoice is received by City. In the event of non-payment within thirty 
(30) days, Contractor shall give City an opportunity to cure the default by giving a notice of such non-
payment and an additional five (5) days after the City’s receipt of the notice to remit such payment, prior to 
giving a notice of termination. Contractor can also terminate the Agreement with one hundred twenty (120) 
days written notice if the Contractor believes it is in its best interests to terminate the Agreement. 

ARTICLE IV 

RENEWAL OF THE AGREEMENT 

Section 1 Renewal Period: Not less than ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement, the 
City may provide written notice of intent to renew this Agreement for an additional term of up to three 
years upon terms and conditions agreed upon by both parties to the Agreement. If no such renewal 
agreement is executed by the parties, the Agreement terminates without further action of either party on 
December 31, 2022. 

ARTICLE V 

GENERAL 

Section 1 Authorized City Agent: The City’s authorized agent for the purpose of administration of this 
Agreement is the City Administrator. Said agent shall have final authority for approval and acceptance of 
the Contractor’s services performed under this Agreement and shall further have responsibility for 
administration of the terms and conditions of this Agreement. All notices under this Agreement shall be 
sent to the person and address indicated below on the signature lines. 

Section 2 Amendments: No amendments or variations of the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall 
be valid unless in writing and signed by the parties. 

Section 3 Assignability: The Contractor’s rights and obligations under this Agreement are not assignable 
or transferable. 

18



AGREEMENT FOR FINANCIAL SERVICES - CONTINUED 

ARTICLE V - CONTINUED 

GENERAL - CONTINUED 

Section 4 Data: Any data or materials, including, but not limited to, reports, studies, photographs, 
negatives, or any and all other documents prepared by the Contractor or its outside consultants in the 
performance of the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement shall be the exclusive property of the 
City, and any such data and materials shall be remitted to the City by the Contractor upon completion, 
expiration, or termination of this Agreement. Further, any such data and materials shall be treated and 
maintained by the Contractor and its outside consultants in accordance with applicable federal, state and 
local. Further, Contractor will have access to data collected or maintained by the City to the extent 
necessary to perform Contractor's obligations under this Agreement. Contractor agrees to maintain all 
data obtained from the City in the same manner as the City is required under the Minnesota Government 
Data Practices Act, Minnesota Statutes Chapter 13 or other applicable law (hereinafter referred to as the 
"Act"). Contractor will not release or disclose the contents of data classified as not public to any person 
except at the written direction of the City. Upon receipt of a request to obtain and/or review data as 
defined in the Act, Contractor will immediately notify the City. The City shall provide written direction to 
Contractor regarding the request within a reasonable time, not to exceed fifteen (15) days. The City 
agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend Contractor for any liability, expense, cost, damages, claim, 
and action, including attorneys' fees, arising out of or related to Contractor's complying with the City's 
direction. Subject to the aforementioned, Contractor agrees to defend and indemnify the City from any 
claim, liability, damage or loss asserted against the City as a result of Contractor's failure to comply with 
the requirements of the Act. Upon termination and/or completion of this Agreement, Contractor agrees to 
return all data to the City, as requested by the City.

Section 5 Entire Agreement: This Agreement is the entire agreement between the City and the Contractor 
and it supersedes all prior written or oral agreements. There are no other covenants, promises, 
undertakings, or understandings outside of this Agreement other than those specifically set forth. Any 
term, condition, prior course of dealing, course of performance, usage of trade, understanding, or 
agreement purporting to modify, vary, supplement, or explain any provision of this Agreement is null and 
void and of no effect unless in writing and signed by representatives of both parties authorized to amend 
this Agreement. 

Section 6 Severability: All terms and covenants contained in this Agreement are severable. In the event 
any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, this 
Agreement shall be interpreted as if such invalid terms or covenants were not contained herein and such 
holding shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision hereof. 

Section 7 Contractor Fiscal Decision Waiver: Contractor is responsible for providing the City with timely 
and accurate financial recommendations and information that allows City Council the ability to make final 
financial decisions. Contractor will provide final financial recommendations but is not responsible for the 
final decisions made regarding financial matters. 

Section 8 City Employment of Contractors Employees; Should the City desire to employ the Contractors 
employee that is assigned to the City during the term of this Agreement, it must have the written consent 
of the Contractor to enter into a City employee contract with the Contractors employee. Should the 
Contractor agree to such arrangement, the agreement will include a payment equal to 50% of the annual 
contracted cost, in addition to the annual contracted cost already paid to the Contractor. This restriction on 
employment applies only during the term of this agreement. 

19



AGREEMENT FOR FINANCIAL SERVICES - CONTINUED 

ARTICLE V - CONTINUED 

GENERAL - CONTINUED 

Section 9 Compensation: The parties agree that the Contractor shall be paid compensation for the 
services provided hereunder, payable for work performed in accordance with this Agreement, based on 
the fees indicated in Table 1 and under the attached scope of services. Additional fees will not be incurred 
without prior approval of the City. 

Initial invoice will be sent within 10 days of the execution of this agreement. Monthly installment fees will 
be invoiced throughout the remainder of this contract.

Section 10 Additional Services: Should the City request additional services in addition to the Contracted 
Services, the Contractor will provide the City with proposed fees for the services to be provided. The City 
shall provide a written or electronic confirmation prior to the proposed services implementation. 

Section 11 Outside Contractors: It shall be the responsibility of Contractor to compensate any other 
outside consultants retained or hired by Contractor to fulfill their obligations under this Agreement and 
shall be responsible for their work and Contractor, by using outside contractors, shall not be relieved of its 
obligations under this Agreement.

Service Period Monthly Investment Annual Investment

January 1, 2020 – December 31, 2020 $ 5,300 $  63,600

January 1, 2021 – December 31, 2021 5,435 65,220

January 1, 2022 – December 31, 2022 5,570 66,840

20



Appendix B

21



Agreement for the Provision of 
Professional Services

WHEREFORE, this Agreement was entered into on the date set forth below and the undersigned, by 
execution hereof, represent that they are authorized to enter into this Agreement on behalf of the 
respective parties and state that this Agreement has been read by them and that the undersigned 
understand and fully agree to each, all and every provision hereof, and hereby, acknowledge receipt of a 
copy hereof.

City of Independence
1920 County Rd 90
Independence, Minnesota  55359

Name

Title

Name

Title

Date

AEM Financial Solutions, LLC
5201 Eden Ave. Suite 250
Edina, Minnesota 55436

Name ______________________________

Title Managing Partner 

Date November 8, 2019

22













 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

League of Minnesota Cities Insurance Trust Tort Liability Waiver 
 

To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 

Meeting Date: November 18, 2019 

 
 
Discussion: 
Each year the City is required to decide whether to waive the monetary limits on Tort Liability 
established by MN Statues, to the extent of the limits of liability coverage obtained from the 
LMCIT.  The City has historically made the determination to not waive the monetary limits 
based on discussion with the Counsel.   
  
 
Requested Action: 
It is recommended that the City Council not waive the monetary limits on Tort Liability 
established by MN Statues, to the extent of the limits of liability coverage obtained from the 
LMCIT. 
 
  
  
ATTACHMENTS:  LMCIT Waiver Form  

  
 
 
 
   





 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
763-479-0527 (Phone)                               1920 County Road 90                                   763-479-0528 (Fax) 

Independence, MN 55359 
www.ci.independence.mn.us 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 19-1118-02 
 

 
RESOLUTION CERTIFYING DELINQUENT SEWER SERVICE CHARGE AS SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENTS 
 

 
WHEREAS, the records of the billing department of the City of Independence lists 

certain accounts delinquent for the year 2019 (a copy of which is with the City Clerk); and  
 

WHEREAS, the consumer has been notified of the delinquent account according to the 
legal requirement of the law; and  

 
WHEREAS, Minnesota Statues authorizes collection of delinquent accounts by 

certification to the county tax rolls for collection. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Independence, 

Minnesota to direct the County Auditor of Hennepin County to place the delinquent accounts, 
consisting of principal and interest thereon at the rate of 5% of the payable 2019 tax rolls. 
 

List of Delinquent Accounts 
                               Address                                          Amount 
                               5695 Lake Sarah Heights Dr.                        1,277.18 
                               5725 Lake Sarah Heights Dr.                        1,277.18 
                               5275 County Road 11                                        462.34 
                               3690 Independence Road                                  401.48 
                               3925 Independence Road                                  382.36 
                               5515 Lake Sarah Heights Dr.                             266.20 
                               3162 Independence Road                                  266.20 
                               4885 Perkinsville Road                                      242.00 
                               

This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on this 
18th day of November 2019, by a vote of ____ayes and ____nays. 
         
 

______________________________ 
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 __________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 



Delano United Methodist Church CUP Amendment, Site Plan and Variance – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Request for an Amendement to the Conditional Use Permit to Allow New 
Antennas on the Existing Telecommunications Tower, Site Plan Approval 

and a Variance to Permit More than One Accessory Building Per 
Telecommunications Tower Requirements 

 
To: City Council   

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: November 18, 2019 

Applicant: AT&T Wireless 

Owner: Delano United Methodist Church 

Location: 3310 County Line Road 

 

Request: 
1. AT&T/SAC Wireless (Applicant) and Delano United Methodist Church (Owner) request that the City 

consider the following actions for the property located at 3310 County Line Road (PID No. 07-118-24-
33-0004): 
 

a. A Conditional Use Permit Amendment to allow collocation on the existing telecommunications 
tower. 
 

b. A Variance to allow more than one accessory building per tower site and a reduced rear yard 
setback. 

 
c. Site plan approval for the proposed site layout. 

    
 
Property/Site Information: 
The property is located on the east side of County Line Road, just north of TH 12.  The property is 
comprised of the existing church building and parking lot, open space and wetlands.  The property has the 
following characteristics: 
 

Property Information for 3310 County Line Road 
 Zoning: Agriculture 
 Comprehensive Plan: Agriculture 
 Acreage: 6.89 Acres 
   



Delano United Methodist Church CUP Amendment, Site Plan and Variance – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 2 

 

 
3310 County Line Road 

 
Discussion: 



Delano United Methodist Church CUP Amendment, Site Plan and Variance – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 3 

 

The applicant is seeking an amendment to the existing conditional use permit, site plan approval and 
variance to allow new antennas and to be located on the existing telecommunications tower and a new 
accessory structure to be located at the base of the tower.  There is an existing Conditional Use Permit 
which was granted by the City in 2001 approving the site plan to allow the tower to be installed.  In 2013, 
the City approved an amendment to allow Verizon Wireless to locate new antennas and accessory 
equipment building on the property.  In 2014, the City granted approval to AT&T to allow the colocation and 
site plan for new antennas on the existing tower.  AT&T did not install the antennas that were approved.   
 
The applicant is again proposing to install new antennas on the existing tower as well as locate the 
associated equipment at the base of the tower.  Given the proposed improvements, an amendment to the 
conditional use permit is required.   
 

520.09   Subd. 8. If a conditional use permit holder wishes to alter or extend the operation or to change 
the conditions of the permit, the city will evaluate the permit holder’s compliance with the existing 
permit conditions.  Any change involving structural alterations, enlargement, intensification of use, or 
similar change not specifically permitted by the conditional use permit issued requires an amended 
conditional use permit.  An amended conditional use permit application must be administered in a 
manner similar to that required for a new conditional use permit. 

 
The City has criteria relating to the location (setbacks), site improvements and landscaping for new 
telecommunications tower development.  In this case, the tower already has a conditional use permit.  The 
location and setbacks for the existing tower were approved by the initial conditional use permit.  There are 
several factors that should be considered relating to the site plan approval and variance: 
 

1. The applicant is proposing to install new base equipment that is located within a fenced area at the 
base of the tower.  The equipment would be located within a steel cabinet and the generator would 
be mounted to a pad on the ground, but otherwise not enclosed.  The previous proposal (2014 and 
approved by the City) proposed to locate the equipment within a prefabricated equipment shelter 
similar to that used by Verizon on this site.  Verizon Wireless has an approximate 300 SF 
equipment shelter which houses all of the requisite base equipment and a generator already on the 
property.  Staff would like direction from the City relating to whether or not all of the proposed 
equipment and generator should be located in a prefabricated building similar to that Verizon 
already has on the property?  In either case, the proposed cabinet is considered an accessory 
structure that would count as a second accessory structure on the property.   
 

2. The applicant is proposing to remove some of the existing landscaping and add additional 
landscaping to the site.  The location of the proposed equipment does not currently impact any of 
the surrounding properties.  In the future, the subject property and adjacent property to the east 
could be redeveloped.  The applicant has updated the landscape plan to reflect the 
recommendation made by staff and the Planning Commission. 

 
3. The City will need to grant a variance from the rear property line to allow the location of the 

equipment cabinet within the requisite 40-foot setback.  The applicant is noting the proposed 
equipment cabinet would be located 9’-7” from the rear property line.  The location of the existing 
tower would likely not allow for any structure to meet the requisite setback.  The City granted a 



Delano United Methodist Church CUP Amendment, Site Plan and Variance – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 4 

 

similar variance in 2013 to allow the Verizon structure to be located within the requisite 40-foot 
setback.   

 
4. Commissioners recommended that the proposed generator be removed from the site or enclosed 

in a sound mitigating enclosure.  The applicant has revised the plans to now show the generator 
being enclosed in a level 2 sound enclosure (see generator cut sheet attached to this report). 

 
5. The plans show that the proposed enclosure will have an exterior light.  The applicant has provided 

the City with a cut sheet of the proposed light that does not meet applicable standards.  The 
applicant will need to provide a revised plan and cut sheet with an approved light fixture.  The 
fixture cannot have any portion of the light source visible from a height of 4 feet.  In order to 
achieve this standard, the proposed light will have to be oriented parallel to the ground and be a full 
cut-off type fixture. 

 

 
 

6. The plans show the at the proposed equipment area will be enclosed by a chain link fence.  The 
height of the proposed fence is 6 feet with an additional 1 foot barbed wire section.  It appears that 
the proposed fence will tie into the existing fence already located on the property. 

 
7. The proposed new antennas would be located below the height of the existing Verizon antennas.  

The Verizon antennas are located at a height of 181 feet.  The proposed AT&T antennas would be 
located at a height of 172 feet. 

 
The City can grant a variance if it determines that it meets the criteria for granting a variance as established 
by ordinance.  The criteria for granting a variance are as follows: 
 

520.21. Standards for granting variances. Subdivision 1. The City Council may grant a variance 
from the terms of this zoning code, including restrictions placed on nonconformities, in cases 
where: 1) the variance is in harmony with the general purposes and intent of this zoning code; 2) 



Delano United Methodist Church CUP Amendment, Site Plan and Variance – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 5 

 

the variance is consistent with the comprehensive plan; and 3) the applicant establishes that there 
are practical difficulties in complying with the zoning code (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  
 
Subd. 2. An applicant for a variance must demonstrate that there are practical difficulties in 
complying with the zoning code. For such purposes, “practical difficulties” means:  

 
(a) The property owner proposes to use the property in a reasonable manner not 

permitted by the zoning code;  
 

(b) the plight of the property owner is due to circumstances unique to the property not 
created by the landowner;  

 
(c) the variance, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  

 
Economic considerations alone do not constitute practical difficulties. Practical difficulties include, 
but are not limited to, inadequate access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems. (Amended, 
Ord. 2011-08)  

 
Subd. 3. The City Council shall not grant a variance to permit a use that is not allowed under the 
zoning code based on the zoning classification of the affected property. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  

 
520.23. Conditions and restrictions. The board of adjustments may recommend and the City 
Council may impose conditions on a variance. Conditions must be directly related to and must bear 
a rough proportionality to the impact created by the variance. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  
 

Any amendment to an existing CUP must meet the same requirements established for granting a new 
CUP.  The criteria for granting a conditional use permit are clearly delineated in the City’s Zoning 
Ordinance (Section 520.11 subd. 1, a-i) as follows: 
 

1. The conditional use will not adversely affect the health, safety, morals and general welfare of 
occupants of surrounding lands. 

2. The proposed use will not have a detrimental effect on the use and enjoyment of other property 
in the immediate vicinity for the proposes already permitted or on the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant in the 
area. 

3. Existing roads and proposed access roads will be adequate to accommodate anticipated 
traffic. 

4. Sufficient off-street parking and loading space will be provided to serve the proposed use. 
5. The proposed conditional use can be adequately serviced by public utilities or on-site sewage 

treatment, and sufficient area of suitable soils for on-site sewage treatment is available to 
protect the city form pollution hazards. 

6. The proposal includes adequate provision for protection of natural drainage systems, natural 
topography, tree growth, water courses, wetlands, historic sites and similar ecological and 
environmental features. 



Delano United Methodist Church CUP Amendment, Site Plan and Variance – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 6 

 

7. The proposal includes adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, dust, 
noise, or vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance. 

8. The proposed condition use is consistent with the comprehensive plan of the City of 
Independence. 

9. The proposed use will not stimulate growth incompatible with prevailing density standards. 
 
The existing tower has a conditional use permit.  The new antennas will be located just below those 
approved for Verizon Wireless.  The proposed equipment cabinet and generator are not consistent with the 
existing enclosed equipment shelter used by Verizon on this site.  Enclosing the proposed ground 
equipment and generator inside of a building would be consistent with the plans approved for the Verizon 
Wireless equipment shelter.  Landscaping will further mitigate the impacts of the proposed equipment 
shelter.  It should be noted that the existing and adjacent properties to the south, east and north are guided 
for Urban Commercial by the City’s 2030 Comprehensive Plan.   

 
In the existing zoning district, telecommunication towers are permitted as a conditional use.  Resulting 
traffic, noise, and other measureable impacts should not be incrementally amplified as a result of the 
proposed new antennas and associated base site improvements.  The City will need to determine if the 
requested amendment to the conditional use permit, site plan and variance meet all of the aforementioned 
conditions and restrictions.   
 
 
Neighbor Comments: 
The City has not received any written comments regarding the proposed amendment to the conditional use 
permit, site plan approval or variance. 
 
 
Planning Commission Discussion: 
Commissioners discussed the proposed request and asked questions or staff and the petitioner.  
Commissioners discussed the proposed plan relating to the generator and whether or not it should be 
enclosed.  Commissioners also discussed the proposed landscape plan.  Commissioners recommended 
approval to the City Council with several additional conditions.  Commissioners recommended that the 
applicant add 4 additional evergreen trees to the plan.  Commissioners recommended that the proposed 
generator be removed from the site or enclosed in a sound mitigating enclosure. 
 
 
Recommendation: 
The Planning Commission recommended approval of the request for an amendment to the conditional use 
permit, site plan approval and variance with the following findings and conditions: 
 

1. The proposed conditional use permit amendment, site plan review and variance meet all 
applicable conditions and restrictions stated Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of 
Independence Zoning Ordinance. 



Delano United Methodist Church CUP Amendment, Site Plan and Variance – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 7 

 

 
2. The conditional use permit will be reviewed annually by the City to ensure conformance with 

the conditions set forth in the resolution. 
 

3. This amendment approves new antennas, site improvements (as indicated on the approved 
site plan, attached hereto) and associated base equipment.  

 
4. The proposed generator shall be enclosed in a level 2 sound enclosure as proposed and 

shown on the approved plan set. 
 

5. Prior to consideration by the City Council, the applicant shall provide the City with the 
following items: 

 
a. Cut sheets and updated plan set showing the proposed lighting.  All lighting shall be 

required to meet applicable City requirements. 
 

6. The applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review and processing of the 
requested amendment to the conditional use permit and site plan review. 

 
7. The City Council may revoke the conditional use permit if the applicant violates any of the 

conditions set forth in the conditional use permit. 
 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Application and Project Narrative 
2. Proposed Plan Set 
3. Resolution No. 19-1118-03 

 
 

 

 

 



 

763.479.0527                                                  1920 County Road 90                                          Fax: 763.479.0528 
                                                                       Independence, MN 55359 
                                                                    www.ci.independence.mn.us 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 19-1118-03 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING APPROVAL OF AN AMENDMENT TO THE  
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT, VARIANCE AND SITE PLAN APPROVAL FOR THE 

TELECOMMUNICATIONS TOWER AND EQUIPMENT  
LOCATED AT 3310 COUNTY LINE ROAD 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Independence (the “City) is a municipal corporation under the 
laws of Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, the City adopted a comprehensive plan in 2010 to guide the development of 
the community; and  

WHEREAS, the City has adopted a zoning ordinance and other official controls to assist 
in implementing the comprehensive plan; and  

WHEREAS, AT&T Wireless (the “Applicant”) submitted a request for an amendment to 
the Conditional Use Permit, Variance and Site Plan Review to allow new antennas to be installed 
on the existing telecommunications tower and a new equipment shelter to be placed on the 
property located at 3310 County Line Road (PID No. 07-118-24-33-0004) (the “Property”); and  

WHEREAS, the Property is zoned Agriculture; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is legally described on attached Exhibit A; and 

WHEREAS the requested amendment to the Conditional Use Permit, Variance and Site 
Plan meets all requirements, standards and specifications of the City of Independence zoning 
ordinance for Agriculture property; and 

WHEREAS the Planning Commission held a public hearing on September 17, 2019 to 
review the application for an amendment to the Conditional Use Permit, Variance and Site Plan, 
following mailed and published noticed as required by law; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed all materials submitted by the Applicant; 
considered the oral and written testimony offered by the applicant and all interested parties; and 
has now concluded that the application is in compliance with all applicable standards and can be 
considered for approval; and  

WHEREAS, the initial Conditional Use Permit was issued in December 2013.   

WHEREAS, this amendment adds additional provisions to the previous Conditional Use 
Permit for this property and all previous conditions shall remain in force. 



 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the application by 
AT&T Wireless for an amendment to the Conditional Use Permit, Variance and Site Plan 
Approval per the City’s zoning regulations with the following conditions: 
 

1. The proposed conditional use permit amendment, site plan review and 
variance meet all applicable conditions and restrictions stated Chapter V, 
Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 
 

2. The conditional use permit will be reviewed annually by the City to ensure 
conformance with the conditions set forth in the resolution. 

 
3. This amendment approves new antennas, site improvements (as indicated on 

the approved site plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B) and associated base 
equipment.  

 
4. Prior to consideration by the City Council, the applicant shall provide the City 

with the following items: 
 

a. Cut sheets and updated plan set showing the proposed lighting.  All 
lighting shall be required to meet applicable City requirements. 

 
b. Updated plans that further depict the required sound mitigating enclosure 

for the generator.  If no enclosure is provided, the generator shall be 
removed from the plans. 

 
5. The applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review and 

processing of the requested amendment to the conditional use permit, variance 
and site plan review. 

 
6. The City Council may revoke the conditional use permit if the applicant 

violates any of the conditions set forth in the conditional use permit. 
 
 

This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on this 
18th day of November 2019, by a vote of ____ayes and ____nays. 
         
 
 

______________________________ 
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 __________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 
 

 



 

EXHIBIT A 
(Legal Description) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

EXHIBIT B 

(Approved Site Plan) 

 

 



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

COVER

SI5
&

11"x17" PLOT WILL BE HALF SCALE UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED
90°

135°
45
°

270°

22
5°

180°

315°

0°
N

90°

135°
45
°

270°

22
5°

180°

315°

0°
N

TO OBTAIN LOCATION OF PARTICIPANTS UNDERGROUND

FACILITIES BEFORE YOU DIG IN MINNESOTA, CALL

GOPHER STATE ONE CALL

TOLL FREE: 1-800-252-1166 OR

FAX A LOCATE: 1-800-236-4967

PROJECT: NSB - WIC
AT&T SITE ID: MNL01123

FA#: 11571089
PACE#: MRUMW004702

PTN#: 3511A0DSL0

AT&T
MOBILITY

DELANO COUNTY LINE
DELANO, MN 55328

AREA MAP
VICINITY MAP LOCAL MAP

DRIVING DIRECTIONS

SITE PHOTO ENGINEERING

PROJECT INFORMATION

REFERENCE MATERIALS

DRAWING INDEX

SI5
&

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

C-1

90°

135°
45
°

270°

22
5°

180°

315°

0°
N

10/14/2019
20



90°

135°
45
°

270°

22
5°

180°

315°

0°
N

®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

C-2

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

C-3

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

C-4

M

M

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

C-5

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

C-6

10/14/2019
20



INFORMATIONAT&T Mobility operates telecommunications antennas at this location.

Remain at least 3 feet away from any antenna and obey all posted signs.

Contact the owner(s) of the antenna(s)  before working  closer than 3 feet

from the antenna.

Contact AT&T Mobility at 800-638-2822 prior to performing any

maintenance or repairs  near AT&T Mobility antennas.

This is Site#____________

Contact the management office if this door/hatch/gate is found unlocked.

En esta propiedad se ubican antenas de telecomunicationes operadas por AT&T

Mobility. Favor mantener una distancia de no menos de 3 pies y obedecer todos

los avisos.

Comuniquese con el propictario o los propicatarios de las antenas antes de

trabajar o caminar a una distancia de menos de 3 pies de la antena.

Comuniquese con AT&T Mobility 800-638-2822 antes de realizar cualquier

mantenimiento o reparaciones cerca de la antenas de AT&T Mobility.

Esta es la estacion base numero    ________________________________

Favor comunicarse con la oficina de la administracion del edificio si esta puerta o

compuerta se encuentra sin candado.

ACTIVE ANTENNAS ARE MOUNTED

STAY BACK A MINIMUM OF 3 FEET

FROM THESE ANTENNAS

Contact AT&T Mobility at 800-638-2822 and follow

their instructions prior to performing any maintenance

or repairs closer than 3 feet from the antennas.

This is AT&T Mobility site# _____________

ON THE OUTSIDE OF THIS BUILDING

BEHIND THIS PANEL

ON THIS STRUCTURE

INFORMATION

INFORMACION

S
T
A
Y

B
A
C
K

3

F
E
E
T

F
R
O
M

A
N
T
E
N
N
A

WARNING!

FAILURE TO OBEY ALL POSTED SIGNS AND SITE

GUIDELINES FOR WORKING IN A RADIO

FREQUENCY ENVIRONMENT COULD RESULT IN

SERIOUS INJURY. CONTACT CURRENT MAY

EXCEED LIMITS PRESCRIBED IN ANSI/EEE

C95.1-1992 FOR CONTROLLED ENVIRONMENTS.

DANGER DO NOT TOUCH TOWER!

SERIOUS "RF" BURN HAZARD!

MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE

CLEARANCE BETWEEN TOWER

SUPPORTS AND GUY WIRES

0 23 4 012 01

®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

C-7

Beyond This Point you are

entering a controlled area where RF

emissions may exceed  the FCC

Occupational Exposure Limits.

Obey all posted signs and site guidelines

for working in a RF environment.

      Ref: 47CFR  1.1307(b)

Beyond This Point you are

entering a controlled area where RF

emissions may exceed  the FCC

General Population Exposure Limits.

Follow all posted signs and site guidelines

for working in a RF environment.

      Ref: 47CFR  1.1307(b)

CAUTIONNOTICE

10/14/2019
20



LIST OF SPECIAL INSPECTIONS

·

·

·

·

®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

C-8

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

C-9

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

C-10

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

T-1

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

T-2

90°

135°
45
°

270°

22
5°

180°

315°

0°
N

90°

135°
45
°

270°

22
5°

180°

315°

0°
N

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

T-3

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

T-4

m

m

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

T-5

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

T-6

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

T-7

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

E-1

90°

135°
45
°

270°

22
5°

180°

315°

0°
N

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

E-2

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

E-3

”

“ ”

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

E-4

 

90°

135°
45
°

270°

22
5°

180°

315°

0°
N

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

E-5

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

E-6

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

E-7

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

E-8

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

N-1

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

N-2

10/14/2019
20



®

AT&T

MOBILITY

BLACK & VEATCH

LS-1

10/14/2019
20



Founded in 1979 Polar Power specialized in solar photovoltaic systems, 
solar air conditioning and refrigeration. We developed and provided 
photovoltaic charging controls for telecommunications in the 1980s 
along with DC generators for the military. In 1994 we were first to 
provide DC generators with remote control and monitoring to the 
telecommunications industry.
Polar’s success is based on engineering generators to meet the very 
specific needs of each application.  Telecom site optimization is best met 
with the DC generator technology as the loads and batteries are DC.  It 
makes no sense to install an AC generator and convert the output to DC. 
The AC generators are designed for a wide range of applications and they 
are not specifically produced for telecom applications so there are issues 
with reliability, space, and fuel efficiency.  
Polar can save you considerable time and cost in permitting, installing, 
purchasing, and maintaining a backup generator. We reduce CAPEX and 
OPEX costs while improving backup reliability.

Copyright 2019 Polar Power Inc., All Rights Reserved.        
For AT&T distribution ONLY

Made in USA

All APUs include:

• Ethernet module with SNMP 
• Powder coated aluminum enclosure
• V-belt driven radiator fan
• 5 Year Warranty

Options available:

• Electric radiator fans
• Level 2 sound enclosure
• 8-alarm relay board
• Oil refining kit

20 KW GASEOUS DC GENERATOR
PART NUMBER 8220-100-NG/LPG-20-03

Rev 10 - May 6, 2019 2:14 PM

Standards:
• UL STD 2200 
• EPA Compliant  



SMALL FOOTPRINT. 
Polar’s DC generator is considerably smaller in size than 
an AC generator. You can now backup sites that could not 
accommodate an AC generator. Smaller also means less cost 
for space leasing.

LOW MAINTENANCE. 

LOW ACOUSTIC NOISE.  <67 dBA @ 7 meters, and low vibration 
so as not to disturb the local residents or building landlords.  

CORROSION RESISTANT. All-aluminum enclosure with 
stainless hardware for low maintenance, and long service life.

FUEL EFFICIENT. Up to 85% fuel savings due to smaller engine 
displacement, high efficiency alternator, and variable speed 
operation.

ADVANCED MONITORING. Remote diagnostics, control, and 
monitoring. Ethernet and RS232 standard, with SNMP.

RODENT RESISTANT. Small animals can quickly destroy a 
generator set by gnawing on wires, fuel lines, radiator hoses, 
etc.  Cooling air inlets and outlets have perforated aluminum 
screens to keep small rodents and large insects out.  Stainless 
steel wire braid is placed over fuel and radiator lines to 
prevent damage.  

LONG LIFE. Controls and wire harnesses are designed to 
exceed a 20 year life. Higher grade, longer life electrical wire 
(UL 3173), weather tight connectors, gold plated connector 
pins on signal circuits. No transfer switches are required.

Electrical tie on

Copyright 2019 Polar Power Inc., All Rights Reserved.        
For AT&T distribution ONLY

2

NG DC Generator

Supra controller W - 39”

H - 40”

L - 55”

Rainguard Exhaust

Load Breaker



Copyright 2019 Polar Power Inc., All Rights Reserved.        
For AT&T distribution ONLY

3

SPECIFICATIONS PN 8220-100-G-20-03

Engine Model Ford TSG 415
Cylinders 4 In-line
Displacement (L) 1.5
Bore (in./mm) 3.11/79
Stroke (in./mm) 3.01/76.4
Intake Air System Naturally Aspirated
Engine HP 47
Emissions U.S. EPA Tier 4
Emissions Compliance EPA Certified
Variable RPM 2300 to 2800

Oil Filter Type Full flow spin-on canister
Oil Capacity (L) 3.78
Oil Pressure Switch Yes
Oil Pressure Transducer Optional

Type Pressurized Aluminum Radiator
Water Pump Belt-driven, Pre-lubed, self-sealing
Fan Type Electric Fans
Airflow CFM 1300
Fan Mode Pusher
Temperature Sensor Yes

 Engine lubrication system

 Engine cooling system

Fuel system

Type LPG or Natural Gas
Fuel Pump Type Fuel Solenoid Replacement
Fuel Tank/Line Supplied by customer
Max fuel flow rate (BTU/hr) 470,000

 Engine

Operating Temperature (°C/°F) -40 to 72 / -40 to 162
Operating Humidity % 100
Cold Start Aids Spark Plugs

 Environmental

Temperature Deration 2% derate for every 5.6 0C (10 0F) 
above 25 0C (77 0F)

Altitude Deration 4% derate for every 300 m (1000 ft) 
above 91 m (300 ft)

 Power adjustment for conditions

Optional: manifold heater available for temperatures < -40 0F

Output (kW) Flow Rate in BTU/hr
10 211,000
15 340,000
20 470,000

250 psi
250 gal. tank

First (stage )Regulator

Recommended
35 psiSecond (stage) Regulator

Supplied by Polar
Installed in Cabinet Fisher Type: 912-101

88-25-0100

 Fuel consumption NG 
 [*Note: Calculated Values] 

Minimum Recommended Maximum

0.14 psi 0.39 psi 0.5 psi

4 in H2O 11 in H2O 13.9 in H2O

10 mbar 27.4 mbar 34.5 mbar

 Fuel Consumption LPG
[*Note: Calculated Values] 

Output (kW) gal/hr L/hr
4 0.97 3.67
5 1.1 4.16
6 1.26 4.77
8 1.69 6.4

9 1.945 7.36

10 2.2 8.33

12 2.52 9.54
15 3.55 13.44
20 5.1 19.3



Copyright 2019 Polar Power Inc., All Rights Reserved.        
For AT&T distribution ONLY

4

 Alternator

Alternator Model 8220 
Type Permanent Magnets, NdFeB
Weight (lb/kg) 46.5/21
Regulation Type Variable engine speed 
Stator 3 phase/32 poles
Overcurrent Protection (A) 20 kW - 500

Disconnect Means Pull fuse block 
or Circuit breaker

Voltage Range (VDC) 44 to 60
Alternator Exhaust 
Flow (cfm/cmm) 130 to 180 / 3.68 to 5.1

MTBF (hr) 100,000+

 Starter Supercapacitor

Model 20-16-0001
Storage Rating (Ah) 500
Voltage (VDC) 13-14.4
Weight (lb/kg) 12.1/5.5
Operating Temperature (°C/°F) -40 to 65 / -40 to 149
Service Life (year) 10 to 15

Optional: L2 option

Model 88-25-0100

Type Weather Protective
Materials Powder coated aluminum

Door Hardware Three Point with Padlock Hasp, 
and Removable Side Panels

Mounting Secure Mounting Tabs

Dims. L 55” x W 39” x H 40”
(Height 54” including Exhaust) 

 Charger

Model 00-10-0015
Input Voltage (VDC) 37 to 62
Output Voltage (VDC) 14 to 14.4
Recharge time from 0 VDC (min) 10
Recharge time from 8 VDC (min) 2
Weight (lb/kg) 2.2/1

  Enclosure

 Engine cooling

System coolant capacity (gal/L) 2.2/8.3
Maximum operation air temperature on radiator (°C/°F) 54/129
Maximum ambient temperature (°C/°F) 49/120

 Exhaust

Exhaust flow at rated output (cfm/cmm) 90/2.55
Exhaust temperature at rated output (°C/°F) 480/900

  Standards

Certification Intertek 400376
UL Listing UL STD 2200
Standards CSA STD C22.2 No. 100

  Weight

Dry Weight (lb/kg) 698.9/317



Copyright 2019 Polar Power Inc., All Rights Reserved.        
For AT&T distribution ONLY

5

 Controller features

Controller Type........................................................................................................................................................................Supra Model 250
4-Line Plain Text OLED Display.....................................................................................................Simple user interface for ease of operation
Engine Run Hours Indication...............................................................................................................................................................Standard
Programmable Start Delay...................................................................................................................................................................Standard
Run/Alarm/Maintenance Logs.............................................................................................................................................................Standard
Engine Start Sequence.......................................................................................Cyclic cranking: 5 sec on, 45 sec rest (3 attempts maximum)
Starter Supercapacitor Charger...........................................................................................................................................................Standard
Automatic Voltage Regulation with Over and Under Voltage Protection.........................................................................................Standard
Automatic Low Oil Pressure/High Oil Temperature Shutdown.........................................................................................................Standard
Overcrank/Overspeed.....................................................................................................................................................................Standard
Automatic High Engine Temperature Shutdown................................................................................................................................Standard
Field Upgradeable Firmware................................................................................................................................................................Standard
Glow Plug Delay .................................................................................................................................................Automatic With Temperature
Engine Start Delay.......................................................................................................................................................Adjustable, Set at 60 sec
Return to Utility Delay.................................................................................................................................................Adjustable, Set at 60 sec
Engine Cool-down........................................................................................................................................................Adjustable, Set at 60 sec
Exerciser............................................................................................................................................................Programmable

 Monitoring

Alarm monitoring and remote control through Ethernet.

 Contact closure alarm board 

Shutdown Alarm...................................................................................................................................................................................Standard
Warning Alarm......................................................................................................................................................................................Standard
Engine Run............................................................................................................................................................................................Standard
E-Stop Depressed..................................................................................................................................................................................Standard



Copyright 2019 Polar Power Inc., All Rights Reserved.        
For AT&T distribution ONLY

 
 

 

 

Type of Test Sound Test Serial No. -- 
Test No. 01 Controller serial No. -- 
Generator model 8220-100-NG-20-03 Observer CHRIS ASHKAR  
Enclosure model Horizontal – 100  Date 1/25/2019 – 5:30 am  
Alternator 8220-1-65-1  Nominal Speed / V / I 2800 RPM / 370A / 55V  
Engine  Ford TSG415  Firmware 3.0.0.19    

Sound Pressure Levels in dB(A)                 
*Disclaimer: Testing conducted in outdoor and uncontrolled environment                                                                                           
*Baseline taken for Ambient noise levels  

 

Position Overall 
Level 

Frequency Spectrum Levels 
Center Frequency (Hz) 

31.5 63 125 250 500 1000 2000 4000 8000 
1 70.1 32.0 35 50.2 53.0 55.0 53.0 49.0 66.0 40.0 
2 68.0 30.8 35.6 44.5 45.6 51.3 49.5 46.3 67.6 41.0 
3 63.9 30.1 33.5 42.5 52.5 52.8 49.9 45.9 48.0 41.9 
4 62.9 31.6 30.0 42.8 51.2 46.6 45.9 40.5 48.8 37.0 
5 62.8 30.6 33.2 48.5 52.3 48.5 50.1 43.7 51.6 39.6 
6 63.3 31.0 31.2 46.5 48.3 49.7 49.3 44.2 48.3 39.8 
7 68.1 30.2 34.6 44.8 51.2 54.6 50.1 44.4 47.2 39.5 
8 69.2 31.0 36.4 49.8 52.1 52.9 49.7 43.1 63.6 37.2 

Average 66.0 30.9 33.7 46.2 50.8 51.4 49.7 44.6 55.1 39.5 
Baseline 49.1 -- -- 41.0 33.2 36.5 35.4 -- -- -- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes: 

1. Generator operating at full rated load 
2. Generator configuration includes quiet exhaust system 
3. All measurement positions are 7 m (23 ft.) from center of generator set and 1 m (3.3 ft.) height 
4. Test conducted outside on an asphalt surface, temperature 45˚F, humidity 52%, wind 1 mph, barometer 30 inHg. 
5. Meter used - Phonic PAA2, Serial No. OGA0H80208 

6

SOUND DATA 



Copyright 2019 Polar Power Inc., All Rights Reserved.        
For AT&T distribution ONLY

DRAWING FOR PN 8220-100-G-20-03

 
10

66
.8

42
 

 
10

26
.2

1
40

 

 
13

84
.3

55
 

EN
G

IN
E 

EX
HA

US
T

HO
T 

A
IR

 E
XH

A
US

T
A

IR
 IN

TA
KE

 
0
0 

 
251
10 

 
86

3.
6

34
 

 
98

9.
63

39
 

FR
A

M
E 

BA
SE

N
O

 TA
N

K 
C

O
N

FI
G

UR
A

TIO
N

D C B A
ABCD

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
88

7
6

5
4

3
2

1

TH
E 

IN
FO

RM
A

TIO
N

 C
O

N
TA

IN
ED

 IN
 T

HI
S 

D
RA

W
IN

G
 IS

 T
HE

 S
O

LE
 P

RO
PE

RT
Y 

O
F

PO
LA

R 
PO

W
ER

 IN
C

.  
A

N
Y 

RE
PR

O
D

UC
TIO

N
 IN

 P
A

RT
 O

R 
A

S 
A

 W
HO

LE
 W

ITH
O

UT
TH

E 
W

RI
TT

EN
 P

ER
M

IS
SI

O
N

 O
F 

PO
LA

R 
PO

W
ER

 IN
C

. I
S 

PR
O

HI
BI

TE
D

.

PR
O

PR
IE

TA
RY

 A
N

D 
C

O
N

FI
DE

N
TIA

L
N

EX
T 

A
SS

Y
US

ED
 O

N

A
PP

LIC
A

TIO
N

D
IM

EN
SI

O
N

S 
A

RE
 IN

 IN
C

HE
S

TO
LE

RA
N

C
ES

 A
RE

:

M
A

TE
RI

A
L

FI
N

IS
H

--

D
RA

W
N

C
HE

C
KE

D

EN
G

 A
PP

R.

M
FG

 A
PP

R.

Q
.A

.

D
A

TE

TIT
LE

:

SI
ZE B

D
W

G
.  

N
O

.
RE

V

SC
A

LE
: 1

:1
6

UN
LE

SS
 O

TH
ER

W
IS

E 
SP

EC
IF

IE
D

:

A
-6

G
EN

ER
A

TO
R 

EN
C

LO
SU

RE
, 

BA
SE

 A
SS

Y,
 T

A
LL

ER

D
O

 N
O

T 
SC

A
LE

 D
RA

W
IN

G

FR
A

C
TIO

N
S

±1
/3

2"
D

EC
IM

A
LS

X.
X±

0.
1"

X.
XX

±0
.0

3"
X.

XX
X±

0.
01

0"

A
N

G
LE

S
±1

/2
°

A
PP

RO
V

A
LS

C
A

D
 G

EN
ER

A
TE

D
 D

RA
W

IN
G

D
O

 N
O

T 
M

A
N

UA
LL

Y 
UP

D
A

TE

W
EI

G
HT

: -
-

88
-2

5-
01

00
-1

G
LE

ES
O

N

SH
EE

T 
3 

O
F 

4
RE

V
D

ES
C

RI
PT

IO
N

EC
O

#
BY

D
A

TE

IN
ITI

A
L 

RE
LE

A
SE

--

PO
LA

R
 P

O
W

ER
 IN

C
.

24
9 

E 
G

A
R

D
EN

A
 B

LV
D

, G
A

R
D

EN
A

, C
A

 9
02

48

C
O

M
M

EN
TS

:
2/

16
/1

7

7



Copyright 2019 Polar Power Inc., All Rights Reserved.        
For AT&T distribution ONLY

PLANNING FOR PN 8220-100-G-20-03

8



Copyright 2019 Polar Power Inc., All Rights Reserved.        
For AT&T distribution ONLY

249 E. Gardena Blvd., Gardena, CA 90248
Tel.: +1(310)8309153 • Fax: +1(310)7192385

info@polarpowerinc.com • www.polarpower.com



5062 Perkinsville Road Minor Subdivision – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Request for a Minor Subdivision to Allow a Lot Line Rearrangement  
on the Properties Generally Located at 5062 Perkinsville Road  

 

To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: November 18, 2019 

Applicant: John Hilbelink 

Owner: John Hilbelink 

Location: 5062 Perkinsville Road 

 
Request: 
John Hilbelink (Applicant/Owner) requests that the City consider the following action for the properties 
located at 5062 Perkinsville Road, Independence, MN (PID No.s 24-118-24-13-0005 and 24-118-24-13-
0006): 
 

a. A minor subdivision to allow a lot line rearrangement to move the existing line between the 
properties.  The rearrangement would create “equal” properties on Perkinsville Road. 

 
 
Property/Site Information: 
The properties are located on the north side of Perkinsville Road and just west of the intersection of 
Perkinsville Road and South Lakes Shore Dr.  The eastern property has an existing home and the western 
property has a detached accessory structure. The property has the following characteristics: 
 

Property Information: 5062 Perkinsville Road (PID No. 24-118-24-13-0005) 
 Zoning: RR-Rural Residential  
 Comprehensive Plan: RR-Rural Residential 
 Acreage:  Before – 1.00 acres 
   After – 2.65 acres (Proposed Tract B) 
 

Property Information: Unassigned Address (PID No. 24-118-24-13-0006) 
 Zoning: RR-Rural Residential  
 Comprehensive Plan: RR-Rural Residential 
 Acreage:  Before – 4.30 acres 
   After – 2.65 acres (Proposed Tract A) 
 



5062 Perkinsville Road Minor Subdivision – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 2 

 

5062 Perkinsville Road 

  
 
Discussion: 
The applicant is seeking a minor subdivision to allow a lot line rearrangement that would expand the 5062 
Perkinsville Road property by approximately 1.65 acres and reduce the property identified by PID No. 24-
118-24-13-0006 by the same.  The applicant owns both of the subject properties.  The common property 
line that is currently located to the north of the 5062 property would be “straightened” to create to equal 
properties.  
 
Both properties are considered to be legal non-conforming lots of record.  Both properties have 
approximately 165 feet of frontage on a public right of way.  The minimum frontage required by ordinance is 
200 LF for the smaller parcel and 250 LF for the larger parcel.  In addition, detached accessory structures 
are not permitted on a property without a principal structure (residence).   In the before and after conditions 
both properties would meet all applicable structure setbacks.  The proposed after condition would not 
create any new non-conformities relating to setbacks, property size or road frontage minimums. 
 
The applicant is in the process of updating the existing septic system that serves the eastern parcel 
(existing residence).  In reviewing the possible locations for a new septic system, it was identified that the      
 



5062 Perkinsville Road Minor Subdivision – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 3 

 

 
 

 

PROPOSED PROPERTY LINE 

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE 



5062 Perkinsville Road Minor Subdivision – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 4 

 

best location would be located on the adjoining property.  Even though both properties are under the same 
ownership, the City notified the Applicant that a permanent easement would need to be provided and 
recorded across the adjoining property if the septic site was going to be located on the adjacent property.  
Based on this discussion, the Applicant is seeking a minor subdivision to rearrange the property lines to 
accommodate a new septic site on the same property as the existing residence. 
 
Staff has reviewed the request and offers the following information for consideration by the Planning 
Commission: 
 

1. The lot line rearrangement would create two equal lots that are in keeping with the general 
configuration and size of the adjacent lots. 
 

2. No new non-conformities would be created, and the legal non-conforming/conforming status of 
each respective property does not change in the before or after conditions. 

 
3. There is an existing detached accessory structure located on the western parcel that is 

proposed to remain in the after condition.  While the non-conforming condition of the property 
is not being intensified as a result of the minor subdivision, staff is seeking direction from the 
Planning Commission and City Council pertaining to this non-conformity. 

 
4. The City did suggest that the Applicant consider connecting the existing home to the City’s 

sanitary sewer line located at the intersection of South Lake Shore Drive and Perkinsville 
Road.  The Applicant did review this possibility and decided to move forward with replacing the 
existing on-site septic system.  There are several challenges to connecting at the closest 
location due to the pipe being a force main. 

 
5. The Applicant would be providing the City with the requisite perimeter drainage and utility 

easements for both properties. 
 

6. The proposed Tract A is a buildable lot of record in both the before and after conditions. 
 
 

Neighbor Comments: 

The City has not received any written or verbal comments pertaining to the request for a lot line 
rearrangement.   

 

Planning Commission Discussion: 

Commissioners reviewed the request and asked questions of the applicant and staff.  Commissioners 
asked about the existing accessory structure and whether or not anyone had provided comments to the 
City.  It was noted that there were no comments provided to the City relating to the application.  
Commissioners asked about the historical use of the property and the location of the original homestead.  
Commissioners found that the request to rearrange the existing lot line would be in keeping with the 



5062 Perkinsville Road Minor Subdivision – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 5 

 

character of the neighborhood.  Planning Commission also found that the impact of the existing legal non-
conforming accessory structure would not be increased in the after condition. 

 

Recommendation: 
The Planning Commission recommended approval of the requested minor subdivision to allow a lot line 
rearrangement with the following findings and conditions: 
 

1. The proposed minor subdivision to allow a lot line rearrangement request meets all applicable 
conditions and restrictions stated Chapter V, Sections 500 and 510, Planning and Land Use 
Regulations and Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 
 

2. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the requested minor 
subdivision. 

 
3. City Council approval of the requested minor subdivision shall be subject to the Applicant providing 

and executing the requisite drainage and utility easements. 
 

4. The Applicant shall record the subdivision, easements and City Council Resolution with the county 
within six (6) months of approval. 
 

 

Attachments: 

1. Resolution 19-1118-04 
2. Application 
3. Survey (Before and After Conditions Shown on the Same Survey) 

 
 

 

 

 

 



 

763.479.0527                                                  1920 County Road 90                                          Fax: 763.479.0528 
                                                                       Independence, MN 55359 
                                                                    www.ci.independence.mn.us 

 
 
 

RESOLUTION 19-1118-04 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A MINOR SUBDIVISION TO ALLOW  
A LOT LINE REARRANGEMENT FOR THE PROPERTIES GENERALLY 

LOCATED AT 5062 PERKINSVILLE ROAD 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Independence (the “City) is a municipal corporation under the 
laws of Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, the City adopted a Comprehensive Plan in 2010 to guide the development of 
the community; and  

WHEREAS, the City has adopted a Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance and other official 
controls to assist in implementing the Comprehensive Plan; and  

WHEREAS, John Hibelink (Applicant/Owner) has submitted a request for a minor 
subdivision to allow a lot line rearrangement for the properties generally located at 5062 
Perkinsville Road in Independence, MN (PID No.s 24-118-24-13-0005 and 24-118-24-13-0006); 
and  
 

WHEREAS, the Properties are legally described and further depicted on attached Exhibit 
A; and 

WHEREAS, the Properties are both zoned RR-Rural Residential; and 

WHEREAS the requested minor subdivision meets all requirements, standards and 
specifications of the City of Independence subdivision and zoning ordinance for Agriculture 
Property; and 

WHEREAS the Planning Commission held a public hearing on October 15, 2019 to 
review the application for a minor subdivision, following mailed and published noticed as 
required by law; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed all materials submitted by the Applicant; 
considered the oral and written testimony offered by the applicant and all interested parties; and 
has now concluded that the application is in compliance with all applicable standards and can be 
considered for approval. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the application by 



 

John Hibelink for a minor subdivision to allow lot line rearrangement per the City’s subdivision 
and zoning regulations with the following conditions: 

 
1. The proposed minor subdivision to allow a lot line rearrangement request meets all 

applicable conditions and restrictions stated Chapter V, Sections 500 and 510, 
Planning and Land Use Regulations and Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning 
Ordinance. 
 

2. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the 
requested minor subdivision. 

 
3. Access to CSAH 6 will require the review and approval of Hennepin County. 

 
4. The Applicant shall provide the City with the legal descriptions and execute and 

record the requisite perimeter drainage and utility easements with the county within 
six (6) months of approval.  

 
5. The Applicant shall record the subdivision and City Council Resolution with the 

county within six (6) months of approval. 
 

This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on this 
18th day of November 2019, by a vote of ____ayes and ____nays. 
         
 
 

______________________________ 
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 __________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

EXISTING PROPERTY DESCRIPTIONS: 

 

PROPOSED PROPERTY DESCRIPTIONS: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 









2236 South Lake Shore Drive – Concept Subdivision Plan Review 11.18.2019 
 Page 1 
 

City of Independence 

Concept Plan Review for a Proposed 28 Unit  
Subdivision on the Subject Properties Generally Located  

at 2236 South Lake Shore Drive and to be Known as Bristol Shores 
 

To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: November 18, 2019 

Applicant: OP Fund 5, LP (The Excelsior Group) 

Owner: Clifford L. Otten Trust 

Location: 2236 South Lake Shore Drive 

 

Request: 
OP Fund 5, LP (Applicant) and Clifford L. Otten Trust (Owner) request that the City consider the following 
review/discussion for the property located at 2236 South Lake Shore Dr. (PID No. 24-118-24-11-0012) in 
Independence, MN: 
 

a. Concept plan review relating to the proposed subdivision of the subject property.  The concept plan 
proposes 28 single-family sewered residential lots.   

 
  
Property/Site Information: 
The property is located on the north side of Perkinsville Road and in-between South Lake Shore Drive and 
County Road 19.   The property has frontage on Lake Independence and is comprised primarily of 
agriculture land.  There are two homes on the subject property along with several detached accessory 
buildings.  The property is comprised of densely wooded areas, wetlands and tillable acreage.  
 

 
Property Information: 2236 South Lake Shore Drive 

 Zoning: Agriculture (S-Shoreland Overlay) 
 Comprehensive Plan: Rural Residential 

Acreage: ~48 acres  
  

 



2236 South Lake Shore Drive – Concept Subdivision Plan Review 11.18.2019 
 Page 2 
 

2236 South Lake Shore Drive Aerial 

 
 



2236 South Lake Shore Drive – Concept Subdivision Plan Review 11.18.2019 
 Page 3 
 

Discussion: 
The applicant originally came forward to the City in May of 2018 with a concept plan for a 96-unit 
subdivision.  The applicant has now submitted a new concept plan for a 28-unit subdivision based on the 
discussion and direction provided to the applicant by the City during the process.  The applicant is now 
asking the City to again consider and provide feedback relating to a new concept plan for the proposed 
subdivision of the subject properties.  A concept plan allows the City the opportunity to initially review the 
proposed subdivision and provide feedback and comments to the applicant prior to the submittal of any 
formal applications for the development of the property.   
 
The City has discussed the potential subdivision and current 28-unit development with the applicant.  In 
addition, upon receipt of the current submittal, the City sent a letter to surrounding residents offering an 
opportunity for them to individually meet with the City to discuss the plan and provide feedback and general 
comments relating to the subject property and its development.  A more detailed account of the comments 
and discussion is provided later in this report.   
 
In order for the City to ultimately consider approval of a plan similar to the proposed concept plan, the 
following steps would be required: 
 

1. Amend the Comprehensive Plan.   
 

a. This would change the guided land use from RR-Rural Residential to something that 
allows a sewered density that would be more than 1 unit per 5 acres. 
 

2. Prepare and adopt an ordinance amendment which would allow for the new land use 
designation of sewered density on the portion of the property outside of the S-Shoreland 
Overlay District.  The City would develop the standards for the new zoning district.  Standards 
would include minimum lot size, minimum building setbacks, design standards, minimum home 
square footage, accessory structure standards and setbacks, landscaping requirements and all 
other similar and related standards pertaining to development within the zoning district. 
 

3. Rezone the property to the new zoning district. 
 

4. Consider Preliminary Plat approval. 
 

5. Consider Final Plat approval. 
 
Comprehensive Plan/Rezoning 
 
The City’s adopted 2030 and proposed 2040 plan identify this property as Rural Residential with limited 
sewer service.  The rural residential designation allows for a general development density of 1 unit per 5 
acres.  The portion of the property that is located within the Shoreland Overlay zoning district could 
potentially be developed in accordance with the requisite shoreland standards.  These standards generally 
allow for property within the shoreland overlay (1,000 feet from the OHWL) to be developed as one (1) acre 
lots.  The City has noted that the property is currently served by the existing sanitary sewer which runs 
along two sides of the property (South Lake Shore and Perkinsville Road).  The City has stated that an 



2236 South Lake Shore Drive – Concept Subdivision Plan Review 11.18.2019 
 Page 4 
 

amendment to the Comprehensive Plan will need to occur after final approval of the 2040 Comprehensive 
Plan.  This plan is still in the process of being reviewed and approved.  The City will ultimately need to 
determine how this parcel is guided moving forward. 
 
 

2030 Comprehensive Land Use Plan 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2236 South Lake Shore Drive – Concept Subdivision Plan Review 11.18.2019 
 Page 5 
 

DRAFT 2040 Comprehensive Land Use Plan 

 
 
Proposed Subdivision Concept Plan 
 
The applicant has prepared a concept plan for review by the City.  The City has preliminarily reviewed this 
plan and provided initial comments and feedback to the applicant.  One of the initial questions asked by the 
City was how many lots could be developed on the property based on the current guidance of the property.  
The current guided designation would allow this property to be rezoned to Rural Residential with a portion 
of the property falling under the S-Shoreland Overlay (all property within 1,000 feet of the OHWL of Lake 
Independence).  In order to determine the actual number of lots permitted under current zoning, a property 
layout would need to be prepared.  There are approximately 26 acres located within the area governed by 
the S-Shoreland Overlay.  The number of lots that this area would yield is likely between 18-22 lots given 
the lakeshore, existing topography and configuration of the property covered by the overlay district.  For the 
remaining 22 acres the number of lots that could be developed would be governed by the Rural Residential 
standards shown below.  22 acres could yield 4-5 lots depending on the exact acreage remaining land.  
The total number of lots that could be realized on this property utilizing the current zoning standards is 
estimated to be between 20-30.  

 



2236 South Lake Shore Drive – Concept Subdivision Plan Review 11.18.2019 
 Page 6 
 

Subd. 3. Density. Lots of record in the rural residential district may be divided or 
subdivided into the following maximum number of lots, said maximum number to include 
the lot for any existing dwelling unit or other principal use: (Amended, Ord. 2010-01)  
 
 Area of Lot      Maximum Number  
 of Record      of Lots Permitted 
 7.5 acres or less     One  
 7.6 through 12.5 acres    Two  
 12.6 through 17.5 acres    Three  
 17.6 through 22.5 acres    Four  
 22.6 through 27.5 acres    Five  
 27.6 through 32.5 acres    Six  
 32.6 through 37.5 acres    Seven  
 37.6 through 42.5 acres    Eight  
 42.6 through 47.5 acres    Nine, plus one addn. lot for every five  

addn. acres of land. 
 
 
Concept Plan Considerations: 
 
The City identified the need to determine if there was potential and physical sewer capacity to 
accommodate a development of this type.  In addition, the City noted that traffic on County Road 29 and 
Perkinsville Road should be further evaluated to understand potential development impacts.   
 
The City conceptually reviewed the existing sewer system and met with the Metropolitan Council relating to 
the possibility of developing this property.  The Metropolitan Council noted that there is a limited regional 
system capacity until 2020 when upgrades to the regional lift station (LS 63) will be online.  It was generally 
acknowledged by the Metropolitan Council that property was included in their future sewered area and was 
also included in the Metropolitan Urban Service Area (MUSA) in the City’s 2030 Comprehensive Plan.  The 
relatively low density (less than 3 units per acre) of the proposed subdivision could present a challenge to 
gaining approval by the Metropolitan Council and will need to be further evaluated should the project move 
forward.  Review of the City’s sanitary sewer system identified the potential capacity to service the 
proposed subdivision.  Some upgrades and or system improvements would likely be necessary for this 
development to occur.   
 
The City also completed a traffic analysis pertaining to the potential impacts of the development of the 
property based on a 96-unit development.  Generally, the traffic analysis found that there was capacity on 
CSAH 29 and Perkinsville Road to accommodate development of this parcel.  Any development of this 
property would have potential traffic impacts to Perkinsville Road and County Road 29.  The City will have 
to further evaluate the potential traffic impacts should the development of this property move forward. 
 
 

 
 
 



2236 South Lake Shore Drive – Concept Subdivision Plan Review 11.18.2019 
 Page 7 
 

MUSA Area Map in the 2030 Comprehensive Plan 

 
 
The initial review of the subdivision contemplates a high-level review only of the proposed concept 
development plan.  A detailed review of the storm water, grading, traffic impacts and infrastructure details 
will be completed prior to consideration of any future applications.  The City does not formally approve or 
deny a concept plan.  The concept plan review will provide direction and comments to the applicant for their 
use during the preparation of future applications.  The following comments should be considered by the 
City: 
 

1. The initial plan reviewed by the City identified lots that would have direct access onto South Lake 
Shore Drive.  The City noted that access to any development should occur via an internal access 
road that comes off of Perkinsville Road.  The applicant revised the concept plan to show lots with 
access only from a new internal loop road.  The City noted that a development of this size would 
need to have two points of access into the development and a second road connection onto South 
Lake Shore is proposed.   
 

2. The proposed concept plan indicates six lots with riparian access (frontage or access) on Lake 
Independence.  Any lot directly abutting the lake would need to comply with applicable shoreland 
overlay standards.  The shoreland overlay requires a minimum lot size of 1 acre and a minimum 
shoreland lot width of 100 linear feet.  The subject property has approximately 700 linear feet of 
shoreline on Lake Independence.  One of the proposed lots would have a narrow 30-foot-wide 



2236 South Lake Shore Drive – Concept Subdivision Plan Review 11.18.2019 
 Page 8 
 

access.  Additional review relating to slopes, bluffs and general grading of the proposed riparian 
lots would be required if the develop moves forward. 
 

3. The proposed layout shows that those lots with direct shoreland would be developed so that the 
homes could be located at the top of the existing slope.  This is preferable to previous layouts 
where the proposed building pads were located closer to the lakeshore which would have likely 
had significant impacts to the existing topography and vegetation. 

 
4. All of the proposed lots (it is understood that one is labeled at .99) would be a minimum of 1 acre in 

size and connected to City sanitary sewer. 
 

5. The City initiated and completed a traffic study relating specifically to this concept development 
plan (see attached traffic study).  The traffic study looked at the potential impacts of an 
approximate 100-unit development on the intersection of Perkinsville Road and County Road 19.  
The study considered the development of this property into typical single-family homes.  Traffic 
counts were taken on County Road 19 and Perkinsville Road to establish some baseline traffic 
data.  It should be noted that the study only considered the impacts of the development of the 
subject property and not any future development/redevelopment of the surrounding area.  The 
primary focus looked at the impacts during peak am and peak pm traffic hours.  The study found 
that that peak hour traffic impacts would be minimal based on the level of service currently 
identified at the intersection.  It was indicated in the study that the level of service at the key 
intersection would be no less than a “B” in the fully developed condition.  The City would want to 
further investigate the impacts of this development on the surrounding areas should further 
consideration be sought by the applicant.  One point that should be noted is that the study 
considered all of the proposed lots to be typical single-family homes.  Should the City consider a 
“senior villa” type product, the potential number of peak am, and pm trips would likely decrease.   
 

6. The surrounding area has a mixture of lot types, sizes and densities.  A quick analysis of the 
approximately 21 surrounding (abutting) properties indicates that the average lot size is close to 
1.5 acres with the smallest property being 0.2 acres.  The nearby properties located on Lake 
Independence (within 1,000 feet of the subject property) also range in size with the average lots 
size being approximately 0.5 acres.  The approximate net density of the abutting properties is 
approximately .75 units per acre.   

 
7. The proposed development would preserve a buffer and open space area along Perkinsville and 

South Lake Shore Drive.  This area could be bermed and planted to help screen the proposed 
development from the surrounding properties.  More development of this area/berming/planting 
would be needed if this development were to move forward. 

 
8. The City and Watershed have standards relating to storm water management and water quality.  

The City would work to ensure that any development of this property would meet all applicable 
standards relating to storm water management and water quality.  Due to the unique nature of this 
property and the fact that the applicant is asking the City to consider allowing for reduced lot 
standards for a portion of the property, increased or enhanced water quality management of the 
stormwater associated with this development could be requested.    



2236 South Lake Shore Drive – Concept Subdivision Plan Review 11.18.2019 
 Page 9 
 

 
9. The subject property has a significant natural feature that consists of a wooded “ravine” that runs 

from west to southeast through the northern portion of the property.  This natural feature should be 
further defined and potentially preserved by any development of this property. 

   
Natural Resource Area 

 
 

 
10. The proposed concept subdivision would be subject to the City’s park dedication requirements.  No 

park land dedication is shown on the concept plans.  The City should provide feedback relating to 
possible park dedication on the subject property.  The City may want to incorporate a trail and or 
sidewalk within the development and to the east to provide access to Baker Park.  Discussion 
relating to park dedication should be provided by the City.  The standard park dedication 
requirement of $3,500 per lot would otherwise be applicable to all newly developed lots.   

 
 
 
 



2236 South Lake Shore Drive – Concept Subdivision Plan Review 11.18.2019 
 Page 10 
 

Individual Neighbor Discussion: 
As noted earlier in this report, the City met or talked with approximately 10 neighboring property owners in 
more detail about the proposed development.  These meetings provided a great deal of insight, concerns 
and recommendations relating to the development of this property.  The following summary of the 
comments and discussions is provided for consideration by the Planning Commission and City Council.  
There may have been additional comments or questions asked during the meetings that is not summarized 
below and was unintentionally not included. 
 
Stormwater: 

1. There is a general concern expressed by many of the residents pertaining to stormwater quality 
and runoff from the existing property and any future development.  Lake Independence is currently 
an impaired water body.  Any development of the property should be carefully reviewed to ensure 
that water quality is improved.   
 

a. It was noted that there is a significant amount of water that runs off of the property to the 
west and also directly off the property into the lake on the north in several areas.  

Traffic: 
2. There is a general concern expressed by many of the residents pertaining to increased traffic on 

both South Lake Shore and Perkinsville Road.   
 

a. Many comments were made relating to the speed of vehicles traveling on Perkinsville 
Road and that there are limited site lines to the west when turning onto or off of South 
Lake Shore. 
 

b. Many comments were provided relating to the poor visibility and difficulty with turning onto 
or off of CSAH 29 from/onto Perkinsville. 

 
Density/Layout/Lakeshore: 

3. Questions were asked relating to why the City would consider allowing an increased number of 
units on the property rather than what is permitted by the current zoning ordinance.  There was 
some discussion that this property is somewhat unique due to the fact that sanitary sewer borders 
two sides of the property and its proximity to the lake.  The City has generally found that it is 
beneficial to require the development of sewered lots within close proximity to lakes.  

 
a. Several comments were made relating to the character of the surrounding properties and 

that the proposed lots were generally smaller than the properties on Perkinsville and a part 
of South Lake Shore that is directly adjacent.   
 

b. Concerns were expressed relating to the two lots that directly adjoin South Lake Shore and 
whether or not they could be eliminated and or moved so that there is a continual buffer 
along the entire South Lake Shore frontage. 

 



2236 South Lake Shore Drive – Concept Subdivision Plan Review 11.18.2019 
 Page 11 
 

c. A general comment was made that the proposed development has 2-5 more lots than what 
would be acceptable. 

 
d. Many comments were provided relating to the desire to minimize the number of potential 

docks on Lake Independence.  It was asked if multiple docks could be installed on the 
Lake and whether or not any of the lakeshore properties would have common access.  It 
was noted that the City did not regulate the number of docks, but that the intent of the 
current design would be to have no common access lots. 

 
Natural Resource Preservation: 

4. Comments were made regarding the existing vegetation and topographical features of the site and 
how/if they would be preserved.  It was noted that the City does not have specific tree preservation 
requirements, but clear cutting of properties is not permitted.  The City also discussed the 
possibility of including other measures that could preserve trees, slopes, ravines, etc. within the 
development. 
 

5. There were comments made relating to the existing nursery trees located on the property and 
whether or not some could be preserved.  

 
Sanitary Sewer: 

6. Questions were asked regarding any potential impacts or costs to the City or residents relating to 
additional connections being added to the sanitary sewer.  It was noted that the City would likely require 
an update to the existing lift station located on the property to accommodate the proposed development. 
 

 
Recommendation: 
The applicant is seeking feedback from the City Council pertaining to the concept plan for a 28-lot development.  
No formal action can be taken by the City on the concept plan.  There are many steps that will need to be taken 
for any development of this property to occur.  The adoption of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan will likely not be 
completed until Spring of 2020.    
 

 
Attachments: 

1. Application 
2. Concept Site Plan 

 
         

 
 



O
W

N
E
R
:

LA
K
E
 
IN
D
E
P
E
N
D
E
N
C
E

O
W

N
E
R
:

O
W

N
E
R
:

O
W

N
E
R
:

O
W

N
E
R
:

O
W

N
E
R
:

O
W

N
E
R
:

O
W

N
E
R
:

O
W

N
E
R
:

OWNER:

O
W

N
E
R
:

O
W

N
E
R
:

O
W

N
E
R
:

P
 
A
 
R
 
C
 
E
 
L 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2

P
 
A
 
R
 
C
 
E
 
L 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1

P
A
R
C
E
L 
3

LA
KE
 I
N
DE
PE
N
DE
N
CE

116106

OF
4-1-19DateRevisions        

NAP

NAPDesigned

Drawn

11BRISTOL SHORES2422 Enterprise Drive
Mendota Heights, MN 55120

(651) 681-1914

INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA

CIVIL ENGINEERS LAND PLANNERS LAND SURVEYORS LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS

CONCEPT PLAN 29

c 2016 Pioneer Engineering

www.pioneereng.com
Fax: 681-9488

THE EXCELSIOR GROUP
1660 HIGHWAY 100 SOUTH, SUITE 400

SAINT LOUIS PARK, MINNESOTA 55416

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS

· MAINTAIN FLOW RATES FOR 2,10 AND 100 YEAR STORMS

· ABSTRACT 1.1" STORMWATER  GENERATED BY NEW IMPERVIOUS SURFACE
BIOFILTRATION
SOIL AMENDMENT (0.5" CREDIT OVER AMENDED AREA)
PRESERVE NATUAL AREAS (0.5"CREDIT  OVER CONSERVATION AREA)
EXCESS WETLAND BUFFER (0.5" CREDIT OVER EXCESS BUFFER AREA)

· NO INCREASE IN TOTAL PHOSPHOROUS AND TOTAL SUSPENDED SOLIDS



Accessory Structure Height Ordinance Amendment – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Consideration to Amend City’s Zoning Ordinance 
 

To: City Council 

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: November 18, 2019 

 
 
A proposed text amendment to the City of Independence Ordinances as follows: 
 

a. Chapter 5, Section 530.01, Subd. 3 Accessory Uses – Considering an amendment 
to the maximum height of an accessory structure.  The City will discuss 
increasing the permitted height of detached accessory structures. 

 
 
Accessory Structure Height 
Staff has determined that it is possible to establish a “Review Committee” that would likely be 
comprised of several members of the Planning Commission and City Council to review requests 
for accessory structures that exceed the maximum height permitted in the zoning ordinance.  
Details of the “Committee” makeup will be considered and approved by Council and will likely 
include 2 Planning Commissioners and 1 Council Member.  The intent would be that the 
“Committee” would meet once a month if needed.  The cost of an application would be nominal 
and no public hearing would be conducted.  The actual fee would be incorporated into the City’s 
fee schedule.  Staff has been working with the City’s attorney to develop an ordinance for 
consideration by the Planning Commission and the City Council.   
 
The proposed ordinance considers establishment of several specific criteria which must be 
satisfied prior to consideration by the “Committee”.  If a proposal meets the criteria, the 
“Committee” will have the ability to review and approve an increased building height or if not 
approved recommend that the applicant apply for a variance.  Any application that does not meet 
the initial criteria would have the option of applying for a variance. 
 
Planning Commissioners have reviewed the proposed ordinance language and provided feedback 
and direction on several occasions.  Planning Commissioners recommended approval of the 
ordinance with a few minor changes that have now been incorporated into the proposed 
ordinance.  to review the proposed draft language and provide discussion and feedback at the 
meeting.  The draft ordinance is attached for review and consideration by the City Council.  
Should the Council adopt the ordinance, staff will amend the fee schedule and prepare a new 
application that corresponds to the ordinance. 
 



Accessory Structure Height Ordinance Amendment – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 2 

 

Original Discussion on Accessory Building Heights: 
In 2013 the City updated the accessory structure ordinance to establish a more proportional 
relationship between the amount of detached accessory structure square footage allowed on a 
property and the size of the property.  In practice, the new ordinance has worked well and there 
have been no variances granted relating to the size of a detached accessory structure since the 
amendment.  One area of the ordinance that was changed at the same time was the maximum 
height permitted for detached accessory structures.  The City has received concerns and 
comments from property owners relating to the maximum height permitted.  The City has also 
granted two (2) variances relating to the maximum height of detached accessory structures.  The 
general concern is that the maximum height permitted varies based on the height of the principal 
structure.  If a resident has a single-level home, the maximum height of a detached accessory 
structure is limited to the single-level home height.  This causes some issues for residents with 
larger properties that would like to have a larger detached accessory structure but have a single-
level home.   
 
Staff has looked at the permitted heights of accessory structures from surrounding communities.    

 
 

It should be noted that not all communities allow as large of a detached accessory structure as the 
City of Independence.  Staff would like to further discuss the maximum permitted height of 
detached accessory structures with the Planning Commission. 
 
The City’s current ordinance states the following: 
 
 

3 The height of an accessory structure shall not exceed the height of the principle 
structure.  The height of the principle and accessory structure shall be measured 
in accordance with the definition provided in this ordinance, Section 510.05, 
Subdivision 10. 

 



Accessory Structure Height Ordinance Amendment – City Council 11.18.2019  
 Page 3 

 

 
In application of the ordinance over the past 5 years, the City has consistently had requests for 
detached accessory structures that have heights (measured to the midpoint of the roof) in the 20-
25-foot range.  Many of the single-level homes measure closer to 17-20 feet in height measured 
to the midpoint of the roof.  This typically leaves single-level property owners with an issue 
when considering building a detached accessory structure. 
 
When the City considered the height in 2013, there was a general consensus that detached 
accessory structures should be proportional and subordinate to the principle structure on the 
property.  In order to help achieve the subordinate relationship, the maximum height of the 
detached accessory structure was limited.  Due to the wide array of property size, building 
architecture and other factors, many of the proposed detached accessory structures do not have a 
significant relationship with the principle structure.   
 
 



 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2019-03 
 

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 
COUNTY OF HENNEPIN 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 

 
 

AMENDING SECTION 530 OF THE INDEPENDENCE CITY CODE RELATING TO 
ACCESSORY USES 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF INDEPENDENCE, HENNEPIN COUNTY, 
MINNESOTA, ORDAINS: 

 
SECTION 1.  The Independence City Code, Chapter IV, Section 530 is revised to include the 
following: 
 
530.01. - Agricultural District established.  

Subd. 1.  Purpose. The agricultural district is established for the purpose of promoting continued 
farming of agricultural lands.  

Subd. 2.  Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the Agricultural District:  

(a)  Agriculture and horticulture;  

(b)  Feedlots and poultry facilities;  

(c)  Farm drainage and irrigation systems;  

(d)  Forestry;  

(e)  Public recreation;  

(f)  Single-family dwellings  

Subd. 3.  Accessory uses. The following accessory uses are permitted in the Agricultural District:  

(a)  Private garages for single-family dwellings,  

(b)  Home occupations operated in accordance with subsection 515.09 of this zoning code;  

(c)  Fences;  

(d)  Detached agricultural storage buildings, barns, or other structures, accessory to an 
existing single-family dwelling and subject to the following criteria:  

1.  No accessory building or structure shall be constructed on any residential lot prior 
to the time of construction of the principal building to which it is accessory.  

2.  Accessory buildings or structures of 120 square feet or less are exempt from the total 
square footage.  

3.  The total square footage of all accessory structures on an individual property shall 
not exceed the following standards:  



 

 
 

 

 Lots of record  Building Size 1  

(1) 2½ acres or less  
1,850 square feet or 2% of lot area 

2  
(whichever is greater)  

(2) 
Greater than two and one-half acres but less than 10 

acres  
2% of lot area 2  

(3) Ten or more acres  No requirement  

1 Building size shall be calculated by determining the footprint of the building.  

2 Percentage of lot area shall be based on the buildable land. Buildable land must be 
contiguous and not separated by streams, wetlands, slopes in excess of ten percent or 
other physical impediments. In no instance shall the total impervious surface area of any 
lot exceed 25 percent.  

3 The height of an accessory structure shall not exceed the height of the principle 
structure, except as provided in footnote 4. The height of the principle and accessory 
structure shall be measured in accordance with the definition provided in this ordinance, 
section 510.05, subdivision 10.  

 

4 An accessory structure may exceed the height of the principle structure if the accessory 
structure meets all applicable criteria of the Section and the following conditions are met: 



 

 
 

(1) Building plans containing any proposed accessory structure with a height 
exceeding that of the principle structure must be submitted to the City in advance 
of work to confirm compliance with this Section. 

(2) The City Council may establish an Accessory Building Height Review Committee 
to review building plans submitted for any proposed accessory structure with a 
height exceeding that of the principle structure to ensure compliance with the 
following:  

a. On properties that are 2.5 acres or less, the proposed accessory structure 
must be located to the rear of the principle structure.  

b. The proposed accessory structure must be detached and separated by a 
minimum distance of 75 feet from the principle structure.  

c. The proposed accessory structure must meet the principle structure 
setbacks from all property lines. 

d. The applicant shall provide with the application, the written consent of 
100% of the owners or occupants of privately or publicly owned real 
estate directly abutting the premises for which the permit is being 
requested (on forms provided by the City).  Where a street separates the 
premises for which the permit is being requested from other neighboring 
property, no consent is required from the owners or occupants of property 
located on the opposite side of the street.  Where an abutting property 
consists of a multiple dwelling, the applicant need only obtain the written 
consent of the owner or manager, or other person in charge of the 
building. 

 (e)  Retail sales, on a seasonal basis of agricultural and horticultural products grown on the 
premises by a person who occupies the premises as a principal residence, provided that 
the applicant apply for and receive an administrative permit from the city prior to 
commencing any sales of products. All applications shall meet and comply with all of the 
following standards:  

 (1)  Adequate off-street parking is provided for the number of persons reasonably 
anticipated to be on the site at any one time;  

 (2)  The hours of operation must be limited so as not to unreasonably interfere with the 
character of the surrounding area and the neighboring property owners' peaceful 
enjoyment of their properties;  

 (3)  The following signs may be permitted: one permanent on-site sign of no greater 
than 32 square feet in area per surface and having no greater than two surfaces, two 
temporary off-site signs of no greater than eight square feet in area per surface and 
having no greater than two surfaces and such other signs as city may reasonably 
determine to not interfere with public safety or the character of the surrounding area;  

 (4)  Any new accessory structure constructed for the purpose of such sales and any 
adjacent parking area must satisfy those requirements as to setback, size, appearance 
and screening as the city may reasonably determine for purposes of protecting public 
safety and the character of the surrounding area;  

 (5)  Greenhouses may not be artificially lit between the hours of 9:00 p.m. and 7:00 
a.m. unless shielded so as to prevent any light from escaping in any direction;  



 

 
 

 (6)  Such requirements, including application of dust control materials and grading of 
roadways, as the city reasonably determine are necessary in order to minimize the 
impact of any increase in traffic on city roadways as a result of such sales being 
conducted on the premises;  

 (7)  All applicable federal, state and local statutes, ordinances, codes and regulations, 
including, but without limitation, all applicable health and safety regulations, must 
be complied with.  

 (f)  Aeration or decorative windmills provided the following performance standards are 
satisfied:  

 (1)  Permit required. A building permit shall be required for the construction of a 
recreational or aeration windmill.  

 (2)  Minimum lot size requirement. Lot must be 5 acres in total area or larger.  

 (3)  Setback requirements. The windmill must be setback from all property lines and 
residential structures, ten feet plus the height of the windmill.  

 (4)  Height restrictions. The maximum height of the windmill, as measured to the top 
of the highest point of the structure or blade) must not exceed the height of the 
principal structure or 35 feet, whichever is less.  

 (5)  Stability. The windmill shall be installed to withstand a wind force of 90 miles per 
hour.  

 (6)  The function of the windmill can only be used for the purpose of water aeration or 
decoration and not for any other on or off-site use; including the generation of electric 
power, either for use or sale.  

 (7)  No more than one windmill shall be permitted per property.  

 (8)  Windmills less than ten feet in height shall not require a permit.  

Subd. 4.  Conditional uses. The following conditional uses may be permitted in the Agricultural 
District, by action of the city council pursuant to subsections 520.09, 520.11 and 520.13.  

(a)  Accessory dwelling units;  

(b)  Riding stables;  

(c)  Bunkhouses;  

(d)  Farrieries;  

(e)  Detached agricultural storage buildings, barns, or other accessory structures that exceed 
the size limitations of subdivision 3(d) of this subsection;  

(f)  Kennels;  

(g)  Local government buildings;  

(h)  Churches;  

(i)  Cemeteries;  

(j)  Extraction;  



 

 
 

(k)  Essential services;  

(l)  Temporary use of a mobile home or camper as a dwelling unit during construction of a 
permanent dwelling for a period not to exceed six calendar months;  

(m)  Wind energy conversion systems (WECS);  

(n)  Commercial indoor storage in existing farm buildings, provided:  

 (1)  The applicant establishes that the building has been in continuous use for 
agricultural purposes for at least ten years preceding the application for the 
conditional use permit;  

(2)  The building is located on property that is owner-occupied; and  

(3)  The applicant establishes that the structure cannot be economically used for 
agricultural purposes.  

(o)  Guest houses and non-rental guest apartments;  

(p)  Commercial golf courses;  

(q)  Telecommunications towers approved pursuant to section 540 of this Code;  

(r)  Forestry products processing, provided that:  

(1)  The operation of the conditional use must be on a lot that is being used as an 
occupied single-family dwelling;  

(2)  The lot upon which the conditional use is operated must be not less than ten acres 
in area;  

(3)  The area devoted to the conditional use, including buildings, parking, storage area, 
and all related uses may not exceed 15,000 square feet or 12 percent of the size of 
the lot, whichever is smaller, subject to existing accessory building standards.  

(s)  Polo grounds.  

(t)  Catering business, provided that:  

(1)  The business is subordinate to the principal use of the property as a residence;  

(2)  No materials, equipment or parts used in the business may be stored on the premises 
other than within the dwelling unit or accessory structure;  

(3)  No signs relating to the business may be visible from the exterior of the dwelling 
unit or accessory structure except signs that are permitted under subsection 550.09, 
subdivision 2 of this zoning ordinance;  

(4)  No exterior alterations may be made to the dwelling unit to accommodate the 
business except those alterations customarily found with the dwelling units on lots 
of similar size within the district;  

(5)  No traffic shall be generated by the business beyond what is reasonable and normal 
for the area in which it is located;  



 

 
 

(6)  The hours and days during which the business is conducted on the premises is 
limited so as not to unreasonably interfere with the residential character of the 
surrounding areas;  

(7)  No over the counter retail sales may occur on-site.  

(u)  New wireless support structures for small wireless facilities.  

 

Subd. 5.  Animal assisted therapy operation. AAT may be permitted as a conditional use by 
action of the city council pursuant to subsections 520.09, 520.11 and 520.13 of the zoning 
ordinance, subject to the following additional conditions:  

(a)  The applicant shall provide proof of insurance in an amount and with such coverage as 
the city attorney deems reasonable, and shall thereafter maintain such insurance.  

(b)  The applicant shall provide proof of licensing or appropriate educational attainment and 
training in AAT for all therapists delivering services at the site. This requirement shall be 
continuing and the city may request such proof on a periodic basis for all therapists then 
delivering services.  

(c)  The applicant shall provide documentation and a site plan describing the AAT 
program(s) to be delivered. Such documentation shall include a description of the goal-
directed process and criteria for evaluating the effectiveness of the program(s).  

(d)  The applicant shall identify all species of animals that will be present at the site and 
used in delivering AAT. No other species of animals shall be allowed with the city's 
approval.  

(e)  For parcels of less than ten acres, the maximum density of animal units is two acres for 
the first animal unit and one additional acres for each additional animal unit.  

(f)  Other than the delivery of AAT, no commercial or business activities may be conducted 
on the site except the production of agricultural products in de minimis amounts as a 
result of the delivery of AAT.  

(g)  The city may periodically inspect the site without notice.  

 
530.05. - Rural Residential District established.  

Subd. 1.  Established. The Rural Residential District is established for the purpose of providing 
for residential development affording enjoyment of the rural life style.  

Subd. 2.  Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the Rural Residential District:  

(a)  Single-family dwellings;  

(b)  Commercial agriculture;  

(c)  Public recreation;  

(d)  Horticulture;  

(e)  Forestry.  



 

 
 

Subd. 3.  Accessory uses. The following accessory uses are permitted in the Rural Residential 
District:  

(a)  Private fences, gardening and landscaping;  

(b)  Recreation equipment;  

(c)  Home occupations operated in accordance with subsection 515.09 of this zoning code;  

(d)  Non-commercial greenhouses;  

(e)  Private garage, additional storage buildings, barns or other structures, accessory to an 
existing single-family dwelling and subject to the following criteria:  

1.  No accessory building or structure shall be constructed on any residential lot prior 
to the time of construction of the principal building to which it is accessory.  

2.  Accessory buildings or structures of 120 square feet or less are exempt from the total 
square footage.  

3.  The total square footage of all accessory structures on an individual property shall 
not exceed the following standards:  

 Lots of Record  Building Size 1  

(1) 2½ acres or less  
1,850 square feet or 2% of lot area 

2  
(whichever is greater)  

(2) 
Greater than two and one-half acres but less than 10 

acres  
1,850 square feet  

(3) Ten or more acres  No Requirement  

 

1 Building size shall be calculated by determining the footprint of the building.  

2 Percentage of lot area shall be based on the buildable land. Buildable land must be 
contiguous and not separated by streams, wetlands, slopes in excess of ten percent or other 
physical impediments. In no instance shall the total impervious surface area of any lot 
exceed 25 percent.  

3 The height of an accessory structure shall not exceed the height of the principle structure, 
except as provided in footnote 4. The height of the principle and ac1essory structure shall be 
measured in accordance with the definition provided in this ordinance, section 510.05, 
subdivision 10.  



 

 
 

 

4 An accessory structure may exceed the height of the principle structure if the accessory 
structure meets all applicable criteria of the Section and the following conditions are met: 

(1) Building plans containing any proposed accessory structure with a height 
exceeding that of the principle structure must be submitted to the City in advance 
of work to confirm compliance with this Section.  

(2) The City Council may establish an Accessory Building Height Review Committee 
to review building plans submitted for any proposed accessory structure with a 
height exceeding that of the principle structure to ensure compliance with the 
following:  

a. On properties that are 2.5 acres or less, the proposed accessory structure 
must be located to the rear of the principle structure.  

b. The proposed accessory structure must be detached and separated by a 
minimum distance of 75 feet from the principle structure.  

c. The proposed accessory structure must meet the principle structure 
setbacks from all property lines. 

Subd. 4.  Conditional uses. The following conditional uses may be permitted in the Rural 
Residential District by action of the city council pursuant to subsections 520.09, 520.11, and 
520.13 of this Code:  

(a)  Cluster development meeting the standards of subdivision 6 of this section;  

(b)  Kennels;  

(c)  Nurseries;  

(d)  Commercial recreation;  

(e)  Local government buildings;  

(f)  Churches;  



 

 
 

(g)  Cemeteries;  

(h)  Essential services;  

(i)  Temporary use of a mobile home as a dwelling unit during construction of a permanent 
dwelling for a period not to exceed six calendar months;  

(j)  Guest houses and non-rental guest apartments;  

(k)  Telecommunications towers approved pursuant to section 540 of this Code; and  

(l)  New wireless support structures for small wireless facilities.  

 

SECTION 2.  This ordinance shall be in force and effect after enactment and publication as 
required by law.   

 
 
Adopted this 18th day of November, 2019, by the Independence City Council. 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 
 



SUMMARY ORDINANCE NO. 2019-03 

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 
COUNTY OF HENNEPIN 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 

 

AMENDING SECTION 530 OF THE INDEPENDENCE  
CITY CODE RELATING TO ACCESSORY USES 

 
 
 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that on November 18, 2019, Ordinance No. 2019-03, was 
adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence, Minnesota. 

 NOTICE IS FURTHER GIVEN that, because of the lengthy nature of Ordinance No. 2019-
03, the following summary of the ordinance has been prepared for publication. 

 NOTICE IS FURTHER GIVEN that the ordinance adopted by the City Council amends 
Chapter 5, Section 530 of the Independence City Code relating to accessory uses by updating 
standards the maximum height of an accessory structure.  The ordinance more clearly defines the 
standards and process for determining allowable maximum accessory structure heights. 

 A printed copy of the entire ordinance is available for inspection by any person during the 
City’s regular office hours at the City of Independence City Hall. 

 APPROVED for publication by the City Council of the City of Independence, Minnesota on 
this 18th day of November 2019.   

 

       CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 

 

 
                                                                                            _______________________________ 

Marvin D. Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 
 
 


	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC.1 (002).pdf
	Sheets and Views
	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-COVER
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-C-1
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-C-2
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-C-3
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-C-4
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-C-5
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-C-6
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-C-7
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-C-8
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-C-9
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-C-10
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-T-1
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-T-2
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-T-3
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-T-4
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-T-5
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-T-6
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-T-7
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-E-1
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-E-2
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-E-3
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-E-4
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-E-5
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-E-6
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-E-7
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-E-8
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-N-1
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-N-2
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION

	11571089.AE203.NSB-WIC-LS-1
	antenna
	ANTENNA 2
	RRH MOUNTING
	RRH SPEC1
	RRH SPEC2
	RRH SPE3
	RRH SPC4
	DC6 SPEC
	VIEW 9
	VIEW1
	VIEW 2
	VIEW 3
	H-FRAME
	TRENCHING
	GPS SPECS
	GPS INSTALL
	BATTERY RACK
	ANCHOR DETAIL
	FIF RACK ANCOR
	RAYCAP SURGE
	DIPLEXER
	RAYCAP DC12 SURGE
	FIF RACK LTE
	FIF RACK UMTS
	VIEW 8
	HEAVY DUTY PP
	HEAVY DUTY ANCHOR
	RRH DETAIL
	RRH VIEW 4
	NODE B
	LTE BBU
	OUTDOOR SURGE
	SURGE INSTALL IB
	SURGE INSTALL
	BOLLARD
	ICE BRIDGE
	POWER PLANT
	BEND RADIUS
	CABINET INSTALL
	OUTDOOR CABINET
	CABINET SPECS
	ANTENNA MOUNTING
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 2
	ANTENNA MOUNTING 3
	FRAME MOUNTING
	FC12 INSTALL
	FC12 MOUNTING
	DETAIL 7
	DETAIL 8
	EXISTING ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPSOED ANTENNA LAYOUT
	PROPOSED BUILDING ELEVATION
	EXISTING BUILDING ELEVATION
	PROPOSED TOWER ELEVATION
	EXISTING TOWER ELEVATION






